

Breaking the chains: extreme value statistics and localization in random spin chains

Jeanne Colbois, Nicolas Laflorencie

▶ To cite this version:

Jeanne Colbois, Nicolas Laflorencie. Breaking the chains: extreme value statistics and localization in random spin chains. Physical Review B, 2023, 108 (14), pp.144206. 10.1103/PhysRevB.108.144206 . hal-04111829

HAL Id: hal-04111829 https://hal.science/hal-04111829

Submitted on 2 Feb 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

arXiv:2305.10574v2 [cond-mat.dis-nn] 12 Nov 2023

Ι

Breaking the chains: extreme value statistics and localization in random spin chains

Jeanne Colbois^{1, *} and Nicolas Laflorencie^{1, †}

¹Laboratoire de Physique Théorique, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, UPS, France

Despite a very good understanding of single-particle Anderson localization in one-dimensional (1D) disordered systems, many-body effects are still full of surprises, a famous example being the interaction-driven many-body localization (MBL) problem, about which much has been written, and perhaps the best is yet to come. Interestingly enough the non-interacting limit provides a natural playground to study non-trivial multiparticle physics, offering the possibility to test some general mechanisms with very large-scale exact diagonalization simulations. In this work, we first revisit the 1D many-body Anderson insulator through the lens of extreme value theory, focusing on the extreme polarizations of the equivalent spin chain model in a random magnetic field. A many-body-induced chain breaking mechanism is explored numerically, and compared to an analytically solvable toy model. A unified description, from weak to large disorder strengths W emerges, where the disorderdependent average localization length $\xi(W)$ governs the extreme events leading to chain breaks. In particular, tails of the local magnetization distributions are controlled by $\xi(W)$. Remarkably, we also obtain a quantitative understanding of the full distribution of the extreme polarizations, which is given by a Fréchet-type law. In a second part, we explore finite interaction physics and the MBL question. For the available system sizes, we numerically quantify the difference in the extreme value distributions between the interacting problem and the non-interacting Anderson case. Strikingly, we observe a sharp "extreme-statistics transition" as W changes, which may coincide with the MBL transition.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
	A. Context	2
	B. Chain breakings in a nutshell: toy model as a warmup	1 3
	C. Summary of the results and outline of the paper	4
Π.	Exact diagonalization of the many-body	
	Anderson insulator	4
	A. The non-interacting XX model	4
	B. Distribution of local magnetizations	5
	C. Extreme value theory and chain breaks	5
	1. Spin freezing	5
	2. Weak links and chain breaks	7
	3. Freezing exponents	7
	D. Limiting distribution for the extreme	
	polarizations	9
	1. Extreme statistics distribution	9
	2. Small corrections to the limiting	
	distributions	9
	3. Connections with the random	
	transverse-field Ising chain	11
II.	Non-interacting toy model	11
	A. Scaling for the spin freezing	11
	1. Localization length	11
	2. Cluster length	11
	3. Scaling plot and data collapse	12
	B. Distributions	13

1.	Parent	distribution	\mathcal{P}	δ) 13
----	--------	--------------	---------------	----------	------

2. Extreme value distribution $\mathcal{P}(\delta_{\min})$ 13

IV.	Consequences for the MBL problem	14
	A. Interacting toy model	14
	1. XXZ model in the Anderson basis	14
	 Analytical expression for the toy model Perturbative arguments for the stability of the freezing process 	15 15
	B. Numerical results for minimal deviations and the chain breaking mechanism	15
	C. Interacting model and extreme value	10
	statistics	17
	1. Distributions	17
	2. Kullbach-Leibler divergences	18
V.	Conclusions	18
	Acknowledgments	19
	References	19
S1.	Fermionic description of the spin chain model A. Jordan-Wigner transformation and models B. Exact diagonalization for free fermions C. Correlations	24 24 24 25
S2.	Localization lengths	25 25
	B Lyapunov exponent and random matrices	$\frac{20}{26}$
	C. Results	26 26
S3.	Extreme value theory	27
	A. Limit extreme value distributions	27
	1. Generalized extreme value distribution	27

^{*} jeanne.colbois@irsamc.ups-tlse.fr

[†] nicolas.laflorencie@irsamc.ups-tlse.fr

	2. Minimal deviations from a Weibull	
	distribution for the maximal	
	magnetization	28
	B. Applicability of EVT	29
	C. Computing A and α from the EV	
	distributions	29
		20
S4.	Toy model	29
	A. Deviations in the toy model	29
	B. Distributions in the toy model	31
	1. Recovering power-law tails	31
	2. Location of the peaks and merging	31
	C. Collapse with $\ln(L)$	32

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Context

It is fairly well known that one-dimensional (1D) quantum systems are strongly influenced by the presence of random impurities or quenched disorder. This is firstly true at the single particle level where the simplest 1D nearest-neighbor hopping problem in a random potential displays the Anderson localization phenomenon whose hallmark is a real-space exponential decay of all eigenstates, regardless of the strength of the disorder [1]. Another key property is the absence of transport at any energy in such localized systems, a direct consequence of destructive interferences of wave functions [2, 3]. Interestingly, despite an abundant corpus of well-established results in the non-interacting limit, it has proven to be notoriously difficult to translate them to the more realistic situation of finite interactions [4], with the notable exception of zero-temperature physics thanks to bosonization and RG [5]. For the more general case of finite temperature, in principle involving all many-body excitations, the celebrated many-body localization (MBL) problem has attracted an enormous interest over the past decades [6– 20]. Remarkably, a great deal of effort has been put into numerical simulations of interacting 1D models, mostly the random-field Heisenberg spin chain [11, 13], for which an ergodicity-breaking transition is expected at strong enough disorder [13, 21-24].

Nevertheless, the objective of this work is not only oriented towards interacting MBL. Instead we propose to make a first detour to the non-interacting many-body Anderson insulator through the less visited question of extreme value theory. We will concentrate on the effect of a random magnetic field on extreme polarizations in one of the simplest disordered spin chain models, namely the spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ random-field XX chain, governed for L sites on a ring by

$$\mathcal{H}_{xx} = \sum_{i=1}^{L} J \left(S_i^x S_{i+1}^x + S_i^y S_{i+1}^y \right) - h_i S_i^z, \qquad (1.1)$$

which is the non-interacting limit of the 1D Heisenberg

model. Our goal is to develop a theoretical understanding of the extreme magnetizations at any temperature, first for this non-interacting case, building on a combination of large-scale exact diagonalization with an extreme value theory (EVT) analysis of local observables. Next, we aim to extend our conclusions to the finite interaction problem, thus offering us the possibility to strengthen our understanding of MBL physics.

Univariate EVT [25–29] has proven useful in fields as diverse as climate science [30–33] and extreme environmental events [34, 35]; structural risks and related safety measures [36, 37]; athletic records [38–41]; finance [42, 43]; and statistical physics [29, 44, 45]. In particular, disordered condensed matter systems [46] offer a very rich playground for EVT of correlated or uncorrelated random variables, with notable examples such as random matrix theory [47, 48], height distribution of surfaces [44, 49–51] and spin or structural glasses [52– 56]. Disordered spin chains represent a potentially very interesting field of application for EVT, with the notable example of the random transverse-field Ising chain model [57] for which EVT provides very sharp predictions for the distribution of the lowest finite-size energy gap [58–61]. EVT can also be used to study localizationdelocalization transitions: in the (single-particle) Anderson problem with long-range couplings, extreme values of the eigenfunctions capture the localized or delocalized nature of the wavefunctions [62]. Other recent examples of studies include the ground-state energy distribution of quantum disordered chains [63], the extremal statistics of entanglement spectra across the 1D MBL transition [64, 65], the superfluid fraction in a one-dimensional Bose gas [66] or the probability distribution of the commutators of almost-conserved local operators [67].

In this MBL context, the full distributions have been studied for the entanglement entropy [69–72], while much less authors have addressed the pairwise correlations at short [73] or long distance [11]. Also much less studied [74, 75] are the statistics of one of the simplest local observables: the local magnetization $\langle S_i^z \rangle$. Although simple, this quantity can be of deep experimental relevance, since inhomogeneous magnetic moment profiles can be resolved directly by NMR spectroscopy [76–79]. On the theory side, only a few works have addressed magnetization statistics across the ergodic-MBL transition in disordered spin chains, mostly at a qualitative level, for instance observing a U-shape distribution in the localized regime, contrasting with a Gaussian law in the ergodic phase [80–83]. Interestingly, Ref. 81 noticed a power-law decay of the probability to observe vanishing local magnetization $P(0) \sim 1/W$, where W controls the disorder strength, while at the same time tail singularities develop with W for $\langle S_i^z \rangle \approx \pm \frac{1}{2}$. Motivated by these results, we propose to use extreme value statistics to obtain a more quantitative description of this crossover.



FIG. 1. Microscopic mechanism of the chain breaking in the non-interacting case, Eq. (1.1), illustrated for a single L = 512 sites sample with a disorder strength W = 5. (a) Expectation value of the local magnetization $\langle S_i^z \rangle$ along the chain, computed with ED for an eigenstate in the middle of the spectrum: we observe seemingly random oscillations between $\pm 1/2$. (b) Same as panel (a) but for the deviations with respect to perfect polarization $\delta_i = 1/2 - |\langle S_i^z \rangle|$, plotted in log-scale. Green circles highlight the sites with the smallest deviations (strongly polarized spins). The most polarized site $i^* = 92$ is indicated by a vertical green line and the cluster containing it by a green region in panels (a) and (b). (c) Zoom over the region surrounding i^* : one clearly sees a short-range correlation of the δ_i 's in its vicinity. (d) Microscopic mechanism at the origin of the chain breaking: the most polarized site lies in a series of $\ell_{\max} \approx \frac{\ln L}{\ln 2} = 9$ consecutively occupied orbitals ϕ_m , represented by full blue lines, orange dashed lines representing the unoccupied orbitals. Panel (d) shows exponential fits to the exact single-particle states, not necessarily symmetric, while panel (e) represents the corresponding toy model description with all ϕ_m in Eq. (1.3) having the same localization length ξ ; the resulting deviations are shown in panel (f). (g) Disorder dependence of the localization length $\xi(W)$ computed from the Lyapunov exponent (see [68] Sec. S2) averaged over the density of states. The continuous lines correspond to the analytical ansatz $\xi^{-1} = \ln[1 + (W/W_0)^2]$, with $W_0 = 1.13, 1.22$ (see text Eq. (3.1) and below). The inset shows the same data for $1/\xi$ at large disorder.

B. Chain breakings in a nutshell: toy model as a warmup

For a finite chain governed for instance by the quantum XX model Eq. (1.1), the local spin densities $\langle S_i^z \rangle$ can get very close to $\pm \frac{1}{2}$ upon increasing the strength of the random field W, but never reach perfect (classical) polarization. This is an obvious consequence of the quantum fluctuation terms in the Hamiltonian. However, such a classical spin freezing may happen when the thermodynamic limit is taken, leading to a chain break, i.e. some weak links effectively flowing to zero strength when $L \to \infty$. This was first observed and discussed in Ref. 74 when investigating the extreme statistics in random Heisenberg chains, where it was concluded that quantum localization is associated to a chain breaking mechanism. Formally speaking, this means a classical freezing at the thermodynamic limit, i.e. the most polarized site i^* will be such that

$$\langle S_{i^{\star}}^{z} \rangle \xrightarrow[L \to \infty]{} \pm \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (1.2)

Let us first give a heuristic explanation for this freezing phenomenon in the non-interacting limit Eq. (1.1), which describes free fermions in a random potential. In the presence of disorder, all single-particle fermionic eigenstates ϕ_m are Anderson localized. Following Refs. 74 and 84, we model these eigenstates by a simple exponential

$$|\phi_m(i)|^2 \sim \exp\left(-\frac{|i-i_0^m|}{\xi_m}\right) \tag{1.3}$$

for all orbitals m, with ξ_m and i_0^m the corresponding localization lengths and centers. For a given filling fraction $0 < \nu < 1$, the real-space density at a site *i* is given by

$$\langle n_i \rangle = \sum_{m_{\rm oc.}} |\phi_{m_{\rm oc.}}(i)|^2, \qquad (1.4)$$

where the sum is performed over the νL occupied fermionic levels $m_{\text{oc.}}$. In our toy model description, we then make the defining assumption that all orbitals have the same localization length $\xi_m \equiv \xi$. This strong assumption, whose validity will be discussed in Sec. III in the light of systematic ED results on the XX chain, allows us to easily extract simple predictions. For instance, as a direct consequence, the maximal (resp. minimal) fermionic density is expected to occur in the middle of the longest region of $\ell_{\rm max}$ consecutive sites that are occupied (unoccupied) by an orbital [85]. At half-filling $\nu = 1/2$, a configuration with ℓ consecutive occupied (or empty) sites occurs with a probability proportional to $2^{-\ell}$, which, for a finite chain of length $L \gg 1$ yields $\ell_{\text{max}} \approx \ln L / \ln 2$. Back to the spin language, the minimal deviation from perfect polarization $\delta_{\min} \equiv \frac{1}{2} - |\langle S_{i^{\star}}^{z} \rangle|$, is then given by

$$\delta_{\min}(L) \sim \exp\left(-\frac{\ell_{\max}}{2\xi}\right) \sim L^{-\frac{1}{2\xi \ln 2}},$$
 (1.5)

which defines the disorder-dependent freezing exponent

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{2\xi \ln 2}.\tag{1.6}$$

This simple reasoning, illustrated in Fig. 1 (a) to (f), will be further discussed below in the paper, together with large-scale numerical simulation results.

C. Summary of the results and outline of the paper

In the rest of the paper we will explore various aspects of extreme polarizations in random-field spin chains at infinite temperature. First, in Sec. II we use exact diagonalization (ED) to investigate large chains in the noninteracting limit for which the statistics of local magnetizations, and particularly of its extreme values are probed in great details. Finite-size scaling of the spin freezing process will be systematically studied for a broad range of disorder strengths, and compared to the concomitant weak link formation leading to chain breaks in the thermodynamic limit. The associated disorder-dependent spin freezing and weak-link exponents will be analyzed, and compared to the simple the toy model expectation Eq. (1.6). A key result, presented in Sec. IID, is that throughout the entire Anderson insulating regime, the distributions of extreme polarizations fall in the Fréchet subclass of generalized extreme value theory.

The toy model is then further explored in Sec. III for the many-body Anderson insulator, with a particular focus on its capability to provide quantitative results against ED data. The minimal deviations (from perfect polarization) are nicely described by a scaling-law inferred from the toy model, with a non-trivial scaling variable $\overline{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}/\xi$, which is the ratio between the length of the cluster hosting the most polarized spin $\overline{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}$ and the average localization length ξ . Interestingly, the same toy model also provides quantitative results to explain several features in the full distribution functions, as we discuss in Sec. III B.

Finally, Sec. IV addresses the MBL question through the lens of extreme value theory, building on both shiftinvert ED data and an interacting toy model description from which we first make analytical conjectures valid at strong disorder (Sec. IV A). We then compare numerical data between XX and Heisenberg Hamiltonians for both the typical extreme deviations (Sec. IV B) and their full probability distribution functions (Sec. IV C). The Kullbach-Leibler divergence, used to quantify the differences / similarities between the interacting and noninteracting distributions, exhibits a sharp change for a critical disorder regime $W \sim 4 - 7$, thus suggesting an extreme-statistics transition, which might coincide with the MBL transition.

We summarize and conclude in Sec. V. More details on some technical aspects of the calculations are provided as Supplemental Material [68].

II. EXACT DIAGONALIZATION OF THE MANY-BODY ANDERSON INSULATOR

A. The non-interacting XX model

We start with the random-field XX chain model Eq. (1.1), which can be recast as a tight-binding chain of spinless fermions with random on-sites energies, governed (up to a constant) by

$$\mathcal{H}_{xx} = \sum_{i=1}^{L} \frac{J}{2} \left(c_i^{\dagger} c_{i+1} + c_{i+1}^{\dagger} c_i \right) - h_i n_i.$$
(2.1)

Throughout the paper, we consider J = 1 and a uniform box distribution for the random fields h_i , i.e.

$$\mathcal{P}(h) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2W} & \text{if } h \in [-W, W], \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

which has a finite variance $W^2/3$. The model has a U(1) symmetry corresponding to the total magnetization (particle number) being conserved. Unless otherwise stated, we consider the spin-1/2 chain in the $S_{\text{tot}}^z = 0$ sector (half-filling in the fermion language). Exact diagonalization of the above quadratic Hamiltonian are performed over several thousands (typically 10^4) independent samples for periodic chains of lengths spanning a few orders of magnitudes (typically from L = 8 to L = 4096). For each disordered sample, new fermionic operators are numerically obtained from standard ED: $b_m = \sum_{i=1}^{L} \phi_m(i)c_i$, such that the free-fermion Hamiltonian takes a diagonal



FIG. 2. (a) Histograms of the local magnetizations $\langle S_i^z \rangle$ at half-filling and infinite temperature, shown for various disorder strengths. ED data for L = 512, periodic boundary conditions, and 10⁴ random-field realizations. \mathcal{P} gradually changes from an arch to a U-shaped curve with singular tails upon increasing W. (b) The standard deviation of the distribution of magnetizations as a function of the disorder strength (symbols) saturates at 1/2 for strong disorder. (c) The weight of the distribution at zero magnetization decreases with increasing disorder (points). The dashed line represents the expected zero magnetization weight in the strong disorder limit $\sim 1/W$.

form

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{m=1}^{L} \mathcal{E}_m b_m^{\dagger} b_m. \tag{2.3}$$

All single-particle orbitals $\phi_m(i)$ are spatially localized for any finite disorder strength W > 0. We focus on the infinite temperature limit, corresponding to the middle of the many-body spectrum with $\epsilon = 0.5$ (see [68] Sec. S1 for some more details).

B. Distribution of local magnetizations

We first look at the distribution of the on-site magnetizations $\langle S_j^z \rangle$, equivalent to the fermionic occupations $\langle n_j \rangle = \langle S_j^z \rangle + 1/2$. In Fig. 2(a) we observe the development of singular tails for the extremal values $\langle S_i^z \rangle \to \pm 1/2$ upon increasing the disorder strength W, with distributions becoming bimodal in the large disorder limit. The standard deviation $\sigma_{S^z}(W)$, plotted in Fig. 2(b), grows continuously with W and tends to saturation at the bimodal distribution plateau $\sigma_p \to 1/2$ for strong disorder. At the same time, the weight at zero magnetization vanishes $\mathcal{P}(0) \sim 1/W$, see Fig. 2(c), similarly to the case with interactions [74, 81, 82, 84].

In contrast, for weak disorder the distribution $\mathcal{P}(\langle S_j^z \rangle)$ changes from the strong disorder U-shaped convex form and instead becomes concave. Therefore, the probability of observing strongly polarized sites having $\langle S_i^z \rangle$ close

to $\pm 1/2$ exhibits seemingly very different behaviors as a function of the disorder strength W. At strong disorder it has previously been argued [74, 84] that the distribution diverges as a power-law $\sim \delta^{-|\alpha|}$, where δ is the deviation from perfect polarization, defined at each site by

$$\delta_i = \frac{1}{2} - |\langle S_i^z \rangle|. \tag{2.4}$$

Interestingly, we numerically find that the algebraic tail at $\delta \rightarrow 0$ remains over the entire regime of disorder strengths, as shown in Fig. 3 where the form

$$\mathcal{P}(\delta) \sim \delta^{\alpha} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \mathcal{P}(\ln \delta) \sim \exp\left[(1+\alpha)\ln \delta\right], \quad (2.5)$$

is always observed. The W-dependent exponent $\alpha \in [-1, \infty[$ is found to continuously vary with the disorder strength, see Fig. 3(c) where we observe a saturation $\alpha \to -1$ in the large W regime, while $\alpha \to \infty$ at weak disorder. Although a qualitative change seems to occur when the exponent α switches sign at $W^* \approx 1.8$, at least with respect to the divergent or vanishing character of $\mathcal{P}(\delta \to 0)$, the physical regime is however the same on the two sides of W^* which are both described by the same Anderson localization phenomenology.

C. Extreme value theory and chain breaks

Power-law tails in the distributions yield strong consequences for the minimal deviation $\delta_{\min} = \min_j \delta_j$, corresponding to the most polarized site. Indeed, following the Gnedenko's classical law of extremes, it is wellknown [29, 86] that for such an algebraic distribution of independent random variables, the statistics of the extremes will fall into the Fréchet distribution universality class. This will be further developed below, in Sec. II D (see also Supplemental Material [68], Sec. S3). Before this, we first focus on the finite-size scaling properties of the extreme polarizations for finite chains of length L. In the following we will further assume weak correlations between the δ_i random variables, which is well-justified as we discuss in more detail in Sec. II D 2.

1. Spin freezing

For a finite system of size L, the typical behavior of the minimal deviation from perfect polarization $\delta_{\min}(L)$ can be obtained from the simple argument that it must occur exactly once in the chain, such that

$$\int_{0}^{\delta_{\min}(L)} \mathcal{P}(\delta) \,\mathrm{d}\delta \sim \frac{1}{L}.$$
(2.6)

Therefore, the algebraic distribution Eq. (2.5) yields the following finite-size decay (which we will recover from a more systematic EVT analysis in Sec. II D)

$$\delta_{\min}(L) \sim L^{-\frac{1}{1+\alpha}},\tag{2.7}$$







FIG. 4. Infinite temperature ED data for the typical value of the minimal deviations, $\exp[\overline{\ln \delta_{\min}}]$ as a function of the system size L and various disorder strengths W, plotted for $L \gg \xi(W)$. 10^3 field realizations were used for panel (a) and 10^4 field realizations for panels (b) to (d). Dotted lines are a guide to the eye. The extracted freezing exponent γ_{typ} Eq. (2.9) is shown in Fig. 7.

thus linking the exponent α of the distribution with the classical freezing exponent

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{1+\alpha}.\tag{2.8}$$

This implies that for any $\alpha > -1$, the minimal deviation is expected to vanish in the thermodynamic limit $L \to \infty$, with a freezing exponent $\gamma > 0$, and the most polarized site i^* eventually becomes classically frozen $\langle S_{i^*}^z \rangle = \pm 1/2$, in the sense that the quantum fluctuations have completely disappeared.

This algebraic decay for $\delta_{\min}(L)$ Eq. (2.7) is checked numerically by collecting the most polarized site for 10^4 samples and various sizes (we only use 10^3 samples at weak disorder where sample-to-sample fluctuations are weaker, thus allowing to reach larger sizes). To account for the possible absence of self-averaging of these quantities, we consider two definitions of the freezing exponent γ related to the typical and the average value of the minimal deviation:

$$\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}} = e^{\overline{\ln(\delta_{\min})}} \sim L^{-\gamma_{\text{typ}}}$$
(2.9)

$$\delta_{\min}^{\text{avg}} = \overline{\delta_{\min}} \sim L^{-\gamma_{\text{avg}}}.$$
 (2.10)

In Fig. 4, we show ED results for the typical value of the minimal deviations, which exhibit very clear power-law decays with L. This remarkably remains true for a very broad range of disorder strengths W, as illustrated by the different panels of Fig. 4. For weak disorder, W < 1[Fig. 4(a)], the asymptotic regime is only reached at sufficiently large scale: typically we expect this scaling regime when $L \gg \xi$, with ξ the localization length averaged over orbitals and disorder [Fig. 1(g)]. Even at larger disorders, a careful look shows that the exponent of the power-law decay changes slightly with the increasing system size. This effect is at least partially due to the appearance of bumps in the distribution of δ_{\min} for strong disorder and modest system sizes ([68] Sec. S3), and is more pronounced in the decay of the average minimal deviation. This is taken into account in the evaluation of the freezing exponent $\gamma_{typ,avg}$ by fitting ranges of six sizes (at W < 1 and W > 30 and eight sizes $(1 \le W \le 30)$ every two sizes, and using the four last fits (largest sizes) to determine the exponent, and all fits to determine the error on the exponent (see Fig. 7). The extracted freezing exponent γ_{tvp} clearly increases with W, as we will further discuss below in Sec. II C 3. Before this we briefly address the chain breaking mechanism by looking at the spin-spin correlations in the vicinity of the most polarized site.

2. Weak links and chain breaks

The power-law decay of the minimal deviation suggests that in the thermodynamic limit, the chain will eventually be cut upon increasing the system size. This behavior may remind us of single-impurity Kane-Fisher physics [87–89], where the system flows towards an open chain fixed point. Another way to envision these weak links is to see them as entanglement bottlenecks [70], nearly frozen spins being disentangled from the rest of the system. It is well-known that upon increasing disorder the distributions of entanglement entropies display a growing peak at zero entropy (with or without interaction) [70, 71, 90], which is directly related to the singularity $\mathcal{P}(\delta \to 0)$ [74].

An explicit way to investigate such entanglement bottlenecks, or weak links, is to look at the gradual breaking of the chain when L is increased. To do so, we compute (see [68] Sec. S1 for some details) the connected pairwise spin correlations in the close vicinity of the most polarized site i^* , as illustrated in Fig. 5.



FIG. 5. Schematic illustration of the pairwise spin correlations at short distance in the close vicinity of the most polarized site i^* , surrounded by \mathcal{L} (left) and \mathcal{R} (right) sites.

We numerically check that the longitudinal components

$$C_{ij}^{zz} = \langle S_i^z S_j^z \rangle - \langle S_i^z \rangle \langle S_j^z \rangle \tag{2.11}$$

display a similar algebraic decay with L for the three cases $(ij) = (\mathcal{L}i^*)$, $(i^*\mathcal{R})$, as well as $(\mathcal{L}\mathcal{R})$ which is shown in Fig. 6 for the same parameters as the ones of Fig. 4. The typical weak-link correlation decays as

$$\left|C_{\mathcal{LR}}^{zz}\right|^{\text{typ}} \sim L^{-\theta_{\text{typ}}},\tag{2.12}$$

which defines the weak-link exponent θ [91].

It is straightforward to connect the above behavior with the spin freezing of Eq. (2.10). Indeed, one can model two nearly up-polarized sites using the approximate quantum sate

$$|\Psi\rangle \propto |\uparrow_i\uparrow_j\rangle + \epsilon_i |\downarrow_i\uparrow_j\rangle + \epsilon_j |\uparrow_i\downarrow_j\rangle, \qquad (2.13)$$

with $\epsilon_i \sim \epsilon_j \ll 1$. For such an ansatz wave-function, a simple calculation yields for the deviations $\delta_p \approx \epsilon_p^2 \sim L^{-\gamma}$, and a weak-link correlation

$$\left|C_{ij}^{zz}\right| \approx \left(\epsilon_i \epsilon_j\right)^2 \sim L^{-2\gamma},\tag{2.14}$$

which leads to the following relation between the exponents

$$\theta = 2\gamma, \tag{2.15}$$

expected to describe the strong disorder regime, as we nicely check below in Fig. 7.

3. Freezing exponents

Fig. 7 shows the disorder dependence of the spin freezing exponents $\gamma_{typ,avg}(W)$ controlling the decay of the



FIG. 6. Power-law decay of the typical value of the connected longitudinal correlations : $|C_{L\mathcal{R}}^{z}|$ measured across i^{\star} the most polarized site, as illustrated in Fig. 5. Infinite temperature ED data plotted as a function of the system size L for various disorder strength W. Dotted lines are a guide to the eye. The extracted weak-link exponent θ_{typ} is shown in Fig. 7 (except for W < 0.5 where it becomes too difficult to determine).

typical (resp. average) minimal deviation $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ,avg}}$, and of the weak-link exponent $\theta_{\text{typ}}(W)$ [Eq. (2.12)] for the decay of the (typical) spin correlations in the direct vicinity of the most polarized site. The evaluation of the exponents is limited at weak disorder by the need to reach very large system sizes, and at strong disorder by the need to compute very accurately extremely small deviations δ (and even smaller correlations $C_{\mathcal{LR}}^{zz}$), as mentioned in the previous section. Yet, the predicted Eq. (2.15) is indeed verified at strong disorder, and quite interestingly it seems to remain valid down to $W \sim 2$.

Further, we plot again the disorder-dependent α exponent, which controls the power-law tails of the deviations distribution, but in a form related to the exponent γ , as in Eq. (2.8). The agreement with $\gamma_{\rm typ}$ and $\gamma_{\rm avg}$ is striking at small disorder (inset of Fig. 7), corresponding to the fact that the exponent of the power-law tail indeed controls the decay of the minimal deviation (Sec. II D). The agreement remains quite good, despite the non-monotonous structures appearing in the distributions which start to affect the results ($W \gtrsim 20$), yielding larger errors and a difference between $\gamma_{\rm typ}$, $\gamma_{\rm avg}$ and $1/(1 + \alpha)$.

Finally, we note that the disorder-dependence of the exponents is logarithmic at large disorder. This is reminiscent of the disorder-dependence of the inverse localization length, and corresponds to the relation $\gamma \approx (2\xi \ln 2)^{-1}$ obtained in the simple toy model Eq. (1.6). The agreement between the inverse localization length and the freezing exponent is excellent in Fig. 7, down to



FIG. 7. Decay exponents of the minimal deviation ($\gamma_{\text{avg,typ}}$, Eqs. (2.9), (2.10)) and of the spin correlations across the most polarized site (θ_{typ} , Eq. (2.12)), as a function of the disorder strength W. We also show the disorder dependence of the distribution exponent α [Eq. (2.5), Fig. 3(c)], related to the freezing exponent by $\gamma = 1/(1 + \alpha)$ (Eq. (2.8)), and the toy model result $1/(2\xi \ln 2)$ [Eq. (1.6), Fig. 1(f)]. At large disorder, we observe the expected logarithmic growth with W, and the predicted factor of two between weak-link and freezing exponents [Eq. (2.15)]. Note that γ_{avg} become intractable at strong disorder, yielding very large error bars; for the other error bars see the discussion in Sec. II C 1.

disorder strengths $W \sim 1-2$, which corresponds to the regime where ξ becomes O(1).

D. Limiting distribution for the extreme polarizations

We now discuss in detail the distribution of extreme polarizations for finite chains of length L.

1. Extreme statistics distribution

The Fisher-Tippett-Gnedenko (or extreme value) theorem [28, 86, 92–95] states that the limiting law controlling the maximum of L independent identically distributed random variables $\{x_i\}_{i=1,...,L}$ can take three forms in the limit of large sizes, depending on the tail of the probability density function p(x) at large x. There are three families of limiting distributions which can be gathered in the same generalized extreme value (GEV) distribution, controlled by three parameters: the shape s, the location μ and the scale σ . The probability density function for the rescaled variable $z = \frac{x_{\max} - \mu}{\sigma}$ is

$$\mathcal{P}(z;s) = \begin{cases} (1+sz)^{-(1+1/s)} e^{-(1+sz)^{-1/s}} & \text{for } s \neq 0\\ e^{-(z+e^{-z})} & \text{for } s = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.16)

with (1 + sz) > 0. s = 0 corresponds to the Gumbel distribution, s > 0 Fréchet and s < 0 the Weibull distribution. In the case of a power-law tail of the parent distribution at large x,

$$p(x) = Ax^{-\beta - 1}, \quad \beta > 0,$$
 (2.17)

a Fréchet law [92] is expected for the distribution of the rescaled maximum $z = x_{\max} \left(\frac{AL}{\beta+1}\right)^{-\frac{1}{\beta}}$

$$\mathcal{P}_L(z) \to \beta z^{-\beta-1} \exp\left(-z^{-\beta}\right)$$
 (2.18)

As numerically observed in Sec. II B, we expect that the deviations δ from perfect polarization are distributed according to a power-law $\mathcal{P}(\delta) \sim \delta^{\alpha}$ when $\delta \to 0$ (i.e. $m_i = |\langle S_i^z \rangle| \to 1/2$), see Eq. (2.5) and Fig. 3, with the disorder-dependent exponent $\alpha(W) > -1$ shown in Fig. 3(c). If this is indeed the case, then the minimal deviation for chains of length L, computed as follows

$$\delta_{\min} = \frac{1}{\max_{i=1,\dots,L} \left(\frac{1}{\delta_i}\right)},\tag{2.19}$$

is expected to be distributed according to the Fréchetrelated law [96]:

$$\mathcal{P}_L(\delta_{\min}) \to AL\delta_{\min}^{\alpha} \exp\left(-\frac{AL}{\alpha+1}\delta_{\min}^{\alpha+1}\right).$$
 (2.20)

Changing variable to the logarithm of the minimal deviation $u = \ln \delta_{\min}$, we get the (reflected) generalized Gumbel law

$$\mathcal{P}_L(u) \to AL \exp\left[(\alpha+1)u - \frac{AL}{\alpha+1}e^{(\alpha+1)u}\right],$$
 (2.21)

with scale $\sigma = (\alpha + 1)^{-1}$, and location μ given by

$$\mu = -\frac{1}{\alpha + 1} \ln\left(\frac{AL}{\alpha + 1}\right). \tag{2.22}$$

This non-trivial dependence Eq. (2.21) is checked for the numerical data using two-parameter fits in Fig. 8. The location Eq. (2.22) directly gives the maximum of the distribution, yielding another estimate for the typical deviation:

$$\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}}(L) \approx \left(\frac{A}{\alpha+1}L\right)^{-\frac{1}{\alpha+1}},$$
 (2.23)

which nicely matches Eq. (2.7). Furthermore, the change of variables $\Delta_u = (\alpha + 1)(\ln \delta_{\min} - \mu)$, yields the scaleinvariant (reflected) Gumbel distribution

$$\mathcal{P}_L(\Delta_u) \approx \exp\left[\Delta_u - \exp(\Delta_u)\right],$$
 (2.24)

perfectly illustrated on the right side of Fig. 8. It is important to note that this Gumbel distribution for $\ln \delta_{\min}$ corresponds to a Fréchet law for the inverse minimal deviations.

On the left side, fits to the law Eq. (2.21) are performed using A and α as free parameters. The collapse scale-invariant form Eq. (2.24) is then obtained using A and α averaged over the various system sizes (errors are shown by the grav area, see also Sec. S3 in [68]). At first sight the agreement with the Gumbel distributions is very good. Correspondingly, the extracted values of A and α can be directly related to the amplitude and the exponent of the decay of $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}}$ in Eq. (2.23). We have checked ([68] Sec. S3) that the resulting values of α agree within errors with the power-law tail of the deviations (Fig. 3) and with the freezing exponent γ . Recall that only the tails of the distributions $\mathcal{P}(\delta)$ follow a pure power-law, thus the amplitudes A extracted from the fits in Figs. 8(a) to 8(d)slightly differ from theoretical expectations coming from a perfect power-law: $A \approx (\alpha + 1)2^{(\alpha+1)}$.

2. Small corrections to the limiting distributions

There are several sources of small corrections. First, we should recall that the extreme value distributions are only the limiting distributions, and finite-size corrections should be expected (see e.g. [60]). Second, it is important to say that the deviations δ_i are not fully independent random variables, and therefore one might expect some small differences with the limiting extreme value



FIG. 8. (a) to (d): ED data for random-field XX chains. Distribution of $\ln \delta_{\min}$ for 10^5 field realizations for various system sizes. Solid lines are two-parameter fits to the data according to the reflected generalized Gumbel distribution Eq. (2.21). (e) to (h): Collapse of these distributions obtained by defining $\Delta_u = (\alpha + 1)(\ln \delta_{\min} - \mu)$, with μ from Eq. (2.22), using the A and α extracted from the fits in Figs. (a) to (d). The errors on Δ_u coming from the uncertainties on A and α are represented by the gray area. The dashed red line is the same in all four plots and corresponds to the scale-invariant Gumbel law Eq. (2.24). In panels (d) and (h), we only plot the data for minimal deviations larger than numerical precision. At strong disorder and small sizes, irregular bumps appear (see also Fig. 10).

theory distributions. In fact, the chain breaking mechanism tells us that the extreme polarizations occur in clusters and are thus correlated within each clusters, see Fig. 1(b). Fortunately, these correlations are found to be weak (Sec. S3 in [68]): the spatial correlations of the deviations δ_i , averaged over disorder, decay exponentially with a quite small correlation length ζ , remaining below order of ten sites even at weak disorder. In such a case, it is known [29] that one can predict the extreme statistics distribution based on the distribution function of the local minima for a system divided in blocks of length ζ . Here, we expect the local minima to still follow a power-law distribution, and the extreme value distribution must describe the statistics of the global minima,

as clearly visible in Fig. 8.

Nevertheless, we observe some small discrepancies. First, at weak disorder, the left tail is not well fitted by the limiting law; as a consequence the collapse in Fig. 8(d) has relatively large errors. We suspect this small skew to come from the slow convergence of the power-law tail with the system size in this regime. Indeed, the extreme value description seems to improve when both L and disorder strength grow. However, additional (non-monotonous) structures appear for very strong disorder: note that they are already visible in Fig. 3(b) for $\mathcal{P}(\ln \delta_i)$. On the other hand, it is important to say that as the disorder increases, the tail of the power law remains the correct description for very small deviations. For example, data at W = 20 in Fig. 8(d) show that the larger system sizes are still well described by the power-law tail at very small deviations, but this will gradually degrade when W becomes very large, as more and more bumpy structures would develop. Interestingly, these features have a simple microscopic origin very well captured by the toy model, which will be discussed below, in Sec. III.

3. Connections with the random transverse-field Ising chain

Overall, the histograms of extreme polarizations $\mathcal{P}(\delta_{\min})$ are fairly well described by the extreme value theory over the entire localized regime (Fig. 8), following the distribution Eq. (2.20) coming from a Fréchet distribution which is essentially controlled by the disorderdependent exponent α , primarily governing the tails of the parent distributions $\mathcal{P}(\delta) \sim \delta^{\alpha}$. While describing a totally different physical effect, a similar Fréchet law also characterizes the distribution of the lowest finite-size energy gap $\epsilon_{\min}(L)$ of the random transverse-field Ising chain model (TFIM) [58–61]. In that case, the relevant exponent is the dynamical exponent z which controls the singular distribution of renormalized energy scales in the disordered regime [57] such that $\mathcal{P}(\epsilon) \sim \epsilon^{-1+1/z}$, thus yielding $\epsilon_{\min}(L) \sim L^{-z}$ [97]. Interestingly, one can make a formal analogy between the finite-size gap vanishing in the random TFIM and the chain-breaking occurring in the many-body Anderson insulator. The freezing exponent γ is the analog of z, but they remarkably behave in opposite ways with their localization lengths: $\gamma \sim 1/\xi$ at strong disorder, in stark contrast with the divergence $z \sim \xi$ in the vicinity of the critical point of the random TFIM.

III. NON-INTERACTING TOY MODEL

As introduced in Sec. IB, it was suggested in Refs. 74 and 84 that the algebraic vanishing of the minimal deviation with the system size $\delta_{\min}(L) \sim L^{-\gamma}$ can be readily explained by a simple toy model, in principle valid at strong disorder. Supposing that each orbital ϕ_m is localized around a well-defined localization center i_0^m , see Fig. 1(d), it is further assumed that its envelope decays exponentially and symmetrically around that center, with a site-independent localization length ξ , such that $|\phi_m(i)|^2 \sim \exp(-|i-i_0^m|/\xi)$.

As we have sketched in Sec. IB, this toy model is able to explain the main feature of the spin freezing by relating the typical deviation $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}}$ at half-filling to the average of the maximal sequence ℓ_{\max} of neighboring occupied or empty orbitals in real space, Eq. (1.5), resulting in a chain-breaking mechanism controlled by the freezing exponent $\gamma \sim (2\xi \ln 2)^{-1}$. In this section we want to clarify and nuance the toy model results and draw further consequences.

A. Scaling for the spin freezing

1. Localization length

The unique parameter of the toy model is the Wdependent localization length $\xi(W)$, where the energy dependence has been integrated over the single-particle density of states (see Sec. S2 in [68] for the computation of $\xi(E, W)$ from the Lyapunov exponent [98–100]). This energy-averaged localization length is known to diverge at weak disorder ~ $1/W^2$ [98, 101], while for strong randomness a simple perturbative expansion of the wavefunction around its localization center shows that $\xi^{-1} \sim 2\ln(W)$ [90]. Therefore, the simple Ansatz formula [102] which combines both weak and strong disorder limits

$$\xi = \frac{1}{\ln\left[1 + (W/W_0)^2\right]}$$
(3.1)

nicely fits the bill, as shown in Fig. 1(g) where we see that Eq. (3.1) with $W_0 \sim 1.2$ captures extremely well the exact numerics for $\xi(W)$.

As introduced in Sec. IB, the a priori simplistic toy model provides a remarkably realistic description of the many-body Anderson insulator. In particular, the simple expression for the freezing exponent $\gamma \sim (2\xi \ln 2)^{-1}$ remains valid over a very broad range of randomness, and only starts to deviate typically below $W \sim 2$, as clearly shown in Fig. 7. Nevertheless, in what follows, we are going to see that the extreme polarization scaling derived within the simple toy-model framework, $\delta_{\min}(L) \sim \exp\left(-\frac{\ell_{\max}}{2\xi}\right)$, can be extended to weaker disorder strengths, provided the fact that the maximal sequence ℓ_{\max} is replaced by $\overline{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}$, the average length of the cluster hosting the most polarized spin.

2. Cluster length

Let us first define the cluster length ℓ_{cluster} for any given sample as the size of the region surrounding the



FIG. 9. Validity of the toy model for the description of the deviation δ_{\min} of the most polarized site i^* . (a) Average length ℓ_{cluster} of the cluster containing the most polarized site, as determined by the occupation of this site and its neighbors (see text), and rescaled with the expected size dependence at strong disorder, $\ln L/\ln 2$. The inset is a zoom on the difference of the rescaled length to one. (b) Example of an even, empty, isolated cluster in the toy model. (c) Example of an odd, occupied, non-isolated cluster in the toy model. (d) ED data for the power-law decay of the typical value of the minimal deviation, rescaled with the localization length $\xi(W)$ and the average cluster length, for sizes $L \geq 12$. Inset: same data but in linear scale. The green line is a guide to the eye corresponding to Eq. (3.2) with a zero shift. Compare to Fig. 4.

most polarized site in which the magnetization does not change sign (see green region in Fig. 1(a)). The motivation for this definition is twofold: (i) it holds even at weak disorder, in particular when the localization length is large and a one-to-one correspondence between sites and orbitals becomes ill-defined, and (ii) it remains valid in the presence of finite interactions, namely for the MBL problem discussed in Sec. IV.

We have numerically computed the disorder average cluster size, and its rescaled form $\ell_{\rm sc} = \overline{\ell_{\rm cluster}}/\ell_{\rm max}$ is shown in Fig. 9(a). At strong disorder, we expect the cluster lengths to be controlled by $\ell_{\rm max} = \ln L / \ln 2$. This is indeed what is observed in Fig. 9(a) for a surprisingly wide range of disorder strengths, down to $W^* \sim 1.5$, thus giving a rough estimate for the range of validity of the toy model. Remarkably, for $W \leq W^*$ the average cluster length becomes significantly larger than $\ell_{\rm max}$ and strong finite-size corrections start to appear, while at intermediate values of W the average cluster length is slightly below $\ell_{\rm max}$. This non-monotonous behavior, best visible in the inset of Fig. 9(a), results from the competition between two effects. At intermediate disorder (typically 1 < W < 10) spatial fluctuations in the localization lengths can lead to local configurations for which the most polarized site may belong to a cluster slightly smaller than $\ell_{\rm max}$. On the other hand at smaller W, where the notion of localization center start to become fuzzier, sites that should be normally associated to an empty orbital can have slightly more than halfoccupation, thus creating wider and wider clusters, as clearly shown in Fig. 9(a). Correspondingly, the maximal number of sites with the same sign of the magnetization remains everywhere larger or equal to $\ell_{cluster}$ and can become extremely large at weak disorder, deviating

very strongly from the toy model value $\ell_{\rm max}$.

3. Scaling plot and data collapse

With this in hands, we can now re-write the toy model result Eq. (1.5) as an expression that can be tested at large scales for the XX chain:

$$\ln(\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}}) = -\frac{\overline{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}}{2\xi} - \ln D_W, \qquad (3.2)$$

where D_W is a disorder-dependent constant. Using the data from Fig. 4 and plotting it as a function of the ratio of the mean cluster length to the localization length, in Fig. 9(d), we observe and excellent collapse of the numerical data. The fact that a good collapse is obtained even when neglecting $\ln D_W$ suggests that this correction has a weak disorder dependence.

In fact, at weak to intermediate disorders ($W \lesssim 10$), where $\overline{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}$ differs from the simple toy model prediction, the collapse is much better than when using $\ln(L)/\xi$ as a scaling parameter (Sec. S4 in [68]). Only small deviations to a perfect collapse can be observed for large sizes for these disorder strengths. This means that the deviation of $\overline{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}$ from the expected $\ln(L)/\ln(2)$, observed in Fig. 9(a), fully accounts for the deviation of γ from $1/(2\xi \ln 2)$ observed in Fig. 7. Thus, Fig. 7 and further Fig. 9 show that the toy model yields an excellent description of the chain breaking mechanism for the typical minimal deviation.

We now describe how the toy model helps to explain features of the minimal deviation distributions not captured by extreme value theory, in particular at strong disorder and small sizes.



FIG. 10. (a) and (b) Distribution of the deviations in the XX chain (symbols) at various disorder strengths W and in the toy model (stepped histograms) at the corresponding localization length $\xi(W)$, for chains of 512 sites. (c) Distribution of the minimal deviations in the toy model at W = 2. The arrows indicate the location of the peaks corresponding to (in blue) odd length clusters in Eq. (3.5) and (in red) even-length clusters in Eq. (3.6). In gray, we indicate the expression for the spacing between the peaks. (d) Corresponding ED distributions in the XX chain, shifted by $\ln D_W = 1$. (e) Distribution of the minimal distributions in the toy model at W = 20. (f) Corresponding ED distributions in the XX chain, shifted by $\ln D_W = 2$.

B. Distributions

The toy model allows to exactly obtain some simple results. Indeed, one can easily compute the deviation at a distance r from the center of an isolated cluster of empty orbitals surrounded by occupied orbitals, as in Fig. 9(b), or of a cluster of occupied orbitals only separated from other clusters by two empty orbitals, as in Fig. 9(c). These simple calculations directly yield several results for the distribution of the deviations and of the minimal deviations in the toy model.

1. Parent distribution $\mathcal{P}(\delta)$

First, the power-law tail is easily recovered (Sec. S4 in [68]): remembering that at half-filling the probability of having a cluster of length ℓ is $\mathcal{P}(\ell) \propto 2^{-\ell}$ we can roughly estimate the probability of a deviation δ and find that

$$\mathcal{P}_L(\ln(\delta)) \propto 2^{-2k} \sim 2^{2\xi \ln(\delta)} = e^{\frac{\ln(\delta)}{\gamma}}$$
 (3.3)

in agreement with Eq. (2.5).

Second, we find that there must be peaks in the distribution around locations corresponding to integer values of the cluster length ℓ : $\ln \delta \sim -\ell/(2\xi)$. This is what we show in Figs. 10(a) and (b). As can be seen in Fig. 10(a), at weak disorder, the peaks merge into a single distribution in the toy model. The exponent is clearly different

from the XX chain exponent, corresponding to the difference between the toy model prediction $\gamma = (2\xi \ln 2)^{-1}$ and γ_{typ} shown in Fig. 7. This comes from the difference between $\overline{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}$ and ℓ_{max} discussed in the previous part. In contrast, at strong disorder, the peaks are well separated in the toy model, as visible in Fig. 10(b). Recall that in the toy model picture, the deviations are solely controlled by the distribution of cluster lengths, while the effect of the distribution of the localization lengths is neglected. In the XX chain, the fluctuations of the localization lengths smooth out the peaks, resulting in the bumpy features noted in Fig. 3(b).

2. Extreme value distribution $\mathcal{P}(\delta_{\min})$

Now, let us discuss the distribution of the minimal deviations. The rough estimate Eq. (1.5) of the relation between the minimal deviation and the maximal cluster length can be refined. Considering the situation depicted in Fig. 9(b), we get an upper bound for the minimal deviation in the toy model (see Sec. S4 in [68] for detailed calculations). For an even-length cluster, we have

$$\delta_{\min}(\ell) = e^{-\frac{\ell}{2\xi}}, \quad \ell = 2k, \tag{3.4}$$

while for an odd-length cluster, we obtain

$$\delta_{\min}(\ell) = \frac{e^{-\frac{\ell}{2\xi}}}{\cosh\left(\frac{1}{2\xi}\right)}, \quad \ell = 2k - 1.$$
(3.5)

Thus, well-defined peaks must also appear in the distribution of the logarithm of the minimal deviations in the toy model, as shown in Figs. 10(c) and (e). The distance between peaks coming from clusters of the same parity is controlled by the inverse localization length, in agreement with Eqs. (3.4) and (3.5). We note that the location of the peak due to an even-sized cluster of size $\ell = 2k$ in Eq. (3.4) is always slightly smaller than that coming from a cluster of size $\ell = 2k - 1$. Only the latter is depicted (in blue arrows) in Fig. 10.

In contrast, the situation in Fig. 9(c) yields an estimate for a lower bound for the minimal deviation in a cluster of length ℓ . For an even-sized cluster, we have

$$\delta_{\min}^{\text{lower}}(\ell) = (1 - e^{-\frac{1}{\xi}})e^{-\frac{\ell}{2\xi}},$$
 (3.6)

a result depicted by red arrows in Figs. 10(c) and (e). We show in Figs. 10(c) and (e) that the toy model distributions are indeed well-captured by this simple description.

Finally, in the minimal deviation distribution, the relative height of the peaks is directly related to the distribution of the maximal cluster lengths $\mathcal{P}_L^{\max}(\ell)$ via

$$\mathcal{P}_L\left(\ln\left(\delta_0^{(\ell)}\right)\right) = \frac{\xi}{2}\mathcal{P}_L^{\max}\left(\ell\right). \tag{3.7}$$

Thus, as the system size increases, the probability weight shifts from small negative peaks towards larger negative values, but the location of the peaks does not change, as clearly depicted in Figs. 10(c) and (e).

In the XX chain, we recover all these effects for large deviations, with further corrections due to the distribution in localization lengths (Figs. 10(d) and 10(f)). Since the prefactor D_W of the exponential decay of the minimal deviation is controlled also by the localization lengths distribution, there is a shift between the locations of the peaks in the toy model and the XX chain, which we approximate by shifting the data in Figs. 10(d) and 10(f) by the shift D_W obtained from the typical minimal deviation in Fig. 9(d). Thus, the simple toy model provides a good rule-of-thumb for the location and height of the bumpy features not captured by the extreme value distributions for small to intermediate system sizes and large W.

IV. CONSEQUENCES FOR THE MBL PROBLEM

We now turn to finite interactions, in the middle of the many-body spectrum, a case which has generated a huge amount of theoretical and experimental activity during the last decade: for recent reviews see [19, 20]. While the status of MBL was thought to be well understood in 1D, a new debate has recently emerged [103–105]. Indeed, the broken ergodicity, numerically observed for the random-field Heisenberg chain model

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{Heisenberg}} = \sum_{i} \left(\vec{S}_{i} \cdot \vec{S}_{i+1} - h_{i} S_{i}^{z} \right), \qquad (4.1)$$

at a critical disorder strength W_c in a relatively large range $3.5 \leq W_c \leq 5.5$ [13, 21, 22, 74, 106], has been argued to be only a mere finite-size phenomenon, with the "true" MBL transition occurring at much larger disorder strengths $W_c > 10$ or even $W_c > 20$ [107]. Incidentally, this would correspond to a tiny non-interacting average localization length $\xi \approx 0.2$. In light of these recent developments, the objective of this section is to open the toolbox of extreme value statistics in order to reexamine the ergodicity breaking transition for the celebrated randomfield Heisenberg chain Hamiltonian Eq. (4.1). This part is organized as follows. In Sec. IV A we first start from the non-interacting Anderson limit, and rewrite the interacting model in the Anderson basis from which one can derive a meaningful interacting toy model which helps us to address the fate of the freezing mechanism in the presence of interactions. We then use state-of-the-art numerical simulations (shift-invert ED up to L = 22 sites) in Sec. IV B to quantitatively explore the freezing and compare Heisenberg with XX data. Sec. IVC is then devoted to the EVS analysis. Building on the Anderson insulator results of the previous sections, a direct comparison of the distributions of extreme polarizations for the interacting case turns out to be very instructive, thanks to the quantitative tool provided by the Kullbach-Leibler divergences [108].

A. Interacting toy model

1. XXZ model in the Anderson basis

Adding interactions to the XX chain Hamiltonian Eq. (1.1) is straightforward, yielding the well-known XXZ model

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm xxz} = \mathcal{H}_{\rm xx} + V_{\rm z},\tag{4.2}$$

where \mathcal{H}_{xx} describes free fermions, see Eq. (1.1), and the interacting part is given (up to an irrelevant constant) by

$$V_{\rm z} = \Delta \sum_{i=1}^{L} S_i^z S_{i+1}^z = \Delta \sum_{i=1}^{L} n_i n_{i+1}.$$
 (4.3)

Building on the previous result Eq. (2.3), \mathcal{H}_{xx} is diagonalized by the canonical transformation $b_m = \sum_{i=1}^{L} \phi_m(i)c_i$. In this Anderson basis of localized orbitals $\{\phi_m\}$, the interaction term Eq. (4.3) reads

$$V_{\rm z} = \sum_{l,m,p,q} V_{lmpq} b_l^{\dagger} b_m b_p^{\dagger} b_q, \qquad (4.4)$$

with matrix elements [109–111]

$$V_{lmpq} = \Delta \sum_{i=1}^{L} \phi_l(i)\phi_m(i)\phi_p(i+1)\phi_q(i+1).$$
(4.5)

One can decompose the interaction Hamiltonian Eq. (4.4) in 4 parts, introducing the density operator in the Anderson basis $n_l = b_l^{\dagger} b_l$

$$V_{z} = \sum_{m} \mathcal{V}_{m}^{(1)} n_{m} + \sum_{l \neq m} \mathcal{V}_{l,m}^{(2)} n_{l} n_{m}$$

$$+ \sum_{l \neq m \neq p} \mathcal{V}_{l,m,p}^{(3)} n_{l} b_{m}^{\dagger} b_{p} + \sum_{l \neq m \neq p \neq q} \mathcal{V}_{l,m,p,q}^{(4)} b_{l}^{\dagger} b_{m} b_{p}^{\dagger} b_{q}.$$
(4.6)

The first two terms $\mathcal{V}^{(1,2)}$ are diagonal, and can be interpreted as a first approximation for the celebrated *l*-bit Hamiltonian [67, 112–116], while $\mathcal{V}^{(3,4)}$ are off-diagonal.

2. Analytical expression for the toy model

The interacting XXZ Hamiltonian Eq. (4.2) in a random magnetic field takes the following toy model form, expected to be valid for strong disorder. Further assuming that all Anderson orbitals are localized with a single well-defined localization center, and with a unique localization length ξ given by Eq. (3.1), we get (see supplemental material of Ref. 74)

$$\mathcal{H}_{xxz} = \sum_{m=1}^{L} \left[\left(\mathcal{E}_m + \mathcal{V}^{(1)} \right) n_m + \sum_{r \ge 1} J_r^{(2)} n_m n_{m+r} \right. \\ \left. + \sum_{1 \le r < r'} J_{r,r'}^{(3)} n_m b^{\dagger}_{m+r'} b_{m+r} \right. \\ \left. + \sum_{1 \le r < r' < r''} J_{r,r',r''}^{(4)} b^{\dagger}_m b_{m+r} b^{\dagger}_{m+r''} b_{m+r'} \right], (4.7)$$

where \mathcal{E}_m are single-particle energies, $\mathcal{V}^{(1)} \approx \Delta/W^2$, and the diagonal "density-density" term $J_r^{(2)} \sim \Delta \exp\left[-(r-1)/\xi\right]$. The off-diagonal contributions $J^{(3,4)}$ also vanish exponentially with the inter-orbital distances [74], the decay being again controlled by the noninteracting localization length ξ . We have deliberatly ignored the non-trivial random sign structure of the above terms, expected from Eq. (4.5), which is undoubtedly frustrating. However, since we are working at high energy, the sign of the couplings should not be relevant in the infinite temperature limit [117].

3. Perturbative arguments for the stability of the freezing process

The pressing question here is: how the off-diagonal terms in the above Hamiltonian will affect the freezing process, which is rooted in the presence (and the stability) of a long region having $\ell_{\text{cluster}} \approx \frac{\ln L}{\ln 2}$ occupied sites. Let us first define the following frozen state in the Anderson basis

$$\Psi_{\text{frozen}}^{\text{AL}}\rangle = |\cdots 00 \underbrace{111 \cdots 111}_{\ell_{\text{cluster}}} 00 \cdots \rangle, \qquad (4.8)$$

for which the real-space occupation of the original fermions $\langle n_j \rangle = \langle c_j^{\dagger} c_j \rangle$ is maximal in the middle of the central region of length ℓ_{cluster} . We want to study the stability of $|\Psi_{\text{frozen}}\rangle$, and ultimately the fate of $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}}$, against off-diagonal perturbing terms in the interacting toy model framework Eq. (4.7).

The dominant perturbation to the frozen state Eq. (4.8) is the 3-body contribution, the 2nd line of Eq. (4.7), having an amplitude $\sim W^{-d}$ at large disorder [118] for particle exchanges at $d \ge 1$ the relative distance between creation and annihilation sites. Ignoring the sub-dominant 4-body terms, we conjecture the following perturbative expansion for the frozen state Eq. (4.8)

$$|\Psi_{\text{frozen}}^{\text{MBL}}\rangle \sim a_0 |\ell_{\text{cluster}}\rangle + a_1 |\ell_{\text{cluster}} - 1\rangle + a_2 |\ell_{\text{cluster}} - 2\rangle + \cdots$$
(4.9)

where $|\ell_{\text{cluster}} - p\rangle$ corresponds to $|\Psi_{\text{frozen}}^{\text{AL}}\rangle$ in Eq. (4.8) with $\ell_{\text{cluster}} - p$ consecutive occupied orbitals. Here we will not try to anticipate the breakdown of such an expansion due to resonances, but instead we are interested in the strong disorder limit where Eq. (4.9) should remain a good proxy, with $a_d \sim W^{-d}$. In this regime, the clustering process is stable, while being slightly reduced by the off-diagonal terms. Hence, we expect a weak perturbative depletion of the cluster sizes, at leading order in 1/W following

$$\frac{\ell_{\text{cluster}}^{\text{AL}} - \ell_{\text{cluster}}^{\text{MBL}}}{\ell_{\text{cluster}}^{\text{AL}}} \sim W^{-2}.$$
(4.10)

The chain breaking process being controlled by the decay $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}} \sim \exp\left(-\frac{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}{2\xi}\right)$, the relative difference between the MBL freezing exponent γ^{MBL} and its non-interacting counterpart γ^{AL} should then follow

$$\Delta_{\gamma} = \frac{\gamma^{\text{AL}} - \gamma^{\text{MBL}}}{\gamma^{\text{AL}}} \sim W^{-2}.$$
 (4.11)

Below, in Sec. IV B, we will test the above expression against numerical simulations.

B. Numerical results for minimal deviations and the chain breaking mechanism

In Fig. 11 we show shift-invert ED [13, 119] results at infinite temperature for the interacting model governed by the random-field Heisenberg Hamiltonian Eq. (4.1). Our goal is to provide a quantitative comparison with the non-interacting case. Before doing so, we first discuss the microscopic mechanism at play in the interacting model. This is illustrated in Fig. 11(e) where the deviations δ_i are plotted for a single sample (L = 22 sites, W = 7). One clearly observes a cluster with a V-shaped form, strongly reminiscent of the non-interacting physics shown in Fig. 1(c), with the most polarized site been located roughly in the middle of this cluster. Despite



FIG. 11. Comparison of the minimal deviations between XX ($\Delta = 0$, full circles, ED results) and Heisenberg models ($\Delta = 1$, open circles, shift-invert ED). (a) Finite-size decay of $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}}(L)$ plotted for $1 \leq W \leq 90$. The almost perfect agreement at strong disorder between $\Delta = 0$ and $\Delta = 1$ data slowly deteriorates as the disorder diminishes. (b) Disorder-dependence of the freezing exponents γ extracted for both cases from finite-window fits to the form $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}} \propto L^{-\gamma}$ with $L = [8 \cdots 16]$. The excellent agreement at strong W starts to deviate around $W \sim 5$. (c) Relative difference between the freezing exponents Δ_{γ} Eq. (4.11), plotted against W for various fitting windows (indicated on the plot). The analytically conjectured strong disorder expansion Eq. (4.11) is also show (straight line). (d) For W = 7, comparison of the distributions $\mathcal{P}(\ln \delta_{\min})$ for both models (Heisenberg with open symbols vs. XX with lines and solid circles). The agreement improves with increasing system sizes (see also Fig. 13 for a quantitative comparison). (e) Illustration of the microscopic chain breaking mechanism in the interacting case. Shift-invert ED data for the deviations δ_i in a L = 22-site Heisenberg chain. Down (up) triangles denote negative (positive) magnetizations: a V-shaped cluster is clearly visible, with the most polarized site roughly located in its center.

the relatively small system sizes available for ED in the presence of interactions, it is reasonable to assume that we are facing the same mechanism as in the free-fermion case.

A more quantitative comparison is provided in Fig. 11(a) where the typical deviations are shown for the non-interacting XX (a selection of our ED data already shown in Fig. 4) together with the interacting Heisenberg model results, in both cases for a broad range of disorder strengths $1 \leq W \leq 90$. As already discussed and analyzed in Ref. 74 for Heisenberg, there is a qualitative change in the finite-size scaling of $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}}(L)$, going from a power-law decay at strong W signalling localization, to an ergodic regime at weaker disorder where $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}} \rightarrow 1/2$. This strong qualitative difference is a smoking gun for the MBL transition, which we believe to be well captured by the extreme polarizations. In Ref. 74 it was further shown that the MBL transition found at $W_c = 4.2(5)$ is compatible with a Kosterlitz-Thouless scenario [74, 120–124].

In Fig. 11(a), the comparison between Heisenberg (open symbols) vs. XX (closed) is very instructive. At strong disorder, as previously conjectured using pertur-

bative arguments, the freezing mechanism of the Anderson insulator is only perturbatively ($\sim W^{-2}$) affected by interactions. It is therefore not surprising to observe an almost perfect match of $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}}(L)$ data for the two models at large enough disorder, which appears to be the case for $W \geq 10$. We note however that the non-interacting freezing mechanism is systematically (albeit weakly) altered by interactions: our data always obey

$$\delta_{\min (\text{Heisenberg})}^{\text{typ}} - \delta_{\min (XX)}^{\text{typ}} \ge 0,$$
 (4.12)

in agreement with the analytical arguments. When W decreases this difference slowly grows and starts to become qualitative (at the level of our available system sizes) for $W \sim 5$.

In order to probe this difference in a more quantitative and systematic way, we extract the effective freezing exponents γ by fitting numerical data to the power-law

$$\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}}(L) \propto L^{-\gamma}.$$
 (4.13)

The exponents γ are estimated for both models at $\Delta = 0$ (XX) and $\Delta = 1$ (Heisenberg) over 5-point fitting windows: $L = [8 \cdots 16]$; $[10 \cdots 18]$; $[12 \cdots 20]$; $[14 \cdots 22]$.



FIG. 12. Distribution of the maximal polarization (a),(b) and the minimal deviations (c)-(f) in the XX chain ($\Delta = 0$, full circles) and in the Heisenberg chain ($\Delta = 1$, open circles). (a)-(d) At weak disorder, finite size has opposite effects on the distributions of the XX chain (a),(c) and of the Heisenberg chain (b),(d). (e), (f) For W = 3, the distributions have similar exponential tails, but they strongly differ in the large deviations regime.

Results are reported in Fig. 11(b) for the first window (for which we have data in the full range of disorder), and for all windows in Fig. 11(c) where Δ_{γ} , defined in Eq. (4.11), is plotted against W. First in Fig. 11(b) we find a clearly good agreement for γ at $\Delta = 0$ and 1 above $W \approx 10$, but below $W \approx 5$ we observe a substantial drop, signalling restoration of ergodicity [74]. The relative difference Δ_{γ} in Fig. 11(c) displays significant variations, and a well marked crossing of the different curves for $W \approx 5$. As a guide, we also show the strong disorder analytical conjecture $1/W^2$ Eq. (4.11), which appears to be in reasonable agreement with the data, at least for the smaller sizes, despite their quite large error bars in this strong W regime. We also note an additional finite-size decrease of Δ_{γ} .

This analysis of the freezing exponents already allows us to draw some partial conclusions. For sufficiently large disorder, typically larger than $W \sim 10$, it seems practically impossible to visually distinguish Anderson from MBL. Nevertheless, the relative difference Δ_{γ} remains always positive, albeit tiny and quickly suppressed with increasing W. This suggests that for large disorder the interactions could be an irrelevant perturbation, at least for spin freezing and chain breaking processes. In contrast, as W is reduced the difference begins to be noticeable, with a fairly strong qualitative effect appearing at $W \sim 5$, roughly corresponding to the regime where the instability of the MBL phase towards ergodicity is observed [13, 21, 22, 74].

C. Interacting model and extreme value statistics

1. Distributions

We want to test the effect of interactions more precisely across the entire Anderson localized regime. The main idea is to go beyond the typical behavior $\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}}(L)$, and exploit our previous results obtained for the full distributions $\mathcal{P}(\delta_{\min}^{\text{typ}})$. This will allow to better grasp the deep similarities that exist between MBL and AL, and to capture the ergodic instability when reducing W.

A first example is provided in Fig. 11(d) for W = 7, where the comparison of the Heisenberg vs. XX distributions $\mathcal{P}(\ln \delta_{\min})$, plotted for various chains lengths, shows very similar histograms, with all important features well reproduced. Moreover, an essential observation is that the agreement between the two data sets improves as the system size increases. This is in sharp contrast to the weak disorder regime shown for W = 2, 3in Fig. 12, where the behavior of interacting and noninteracting models appears to be clearly qualitatively different. Looking more closely, for example for W = 3 on the right hand side of Fig. 12, we observe for the interacting problem in Fig. 12(f) some signatures of the Gumbel distribution Eq. (2.21), which was previously shown in Fig. 12(e) to describe the log-minimal deviations in the many-body Anderson insulator, and in particular the exponential tail at large negative values of $\ln \delta_{\min}$. However, two phenomena are observed as L increases: this tail no longer shifts to the left and at the same time evolving features develop on the other side of the support, in complete contrast to the previously discussed case W = 7 where instead the similarity between the curves improves with L.

2. Kullbach-Leibler divergences

In order to go beyond a simple qualitative comparison of two histograms, we want to quantify the differences and similarities between the interacting vs. noninteracting distributions. We therefore introduce a measure of the proximity between two probability distributions (p and q), given by the Kullbach-Leibler (KL) divergence [108] defined for a discrete set by

$$\mathrm{KL}(p|q) = \sum_{i} q_i \ln \frac{q_i}{p_i}.$$
(4.14)

In the limiting cases, $\text{KL} \rightarrow 0$ if both distributions p and q are similar, while if they differ, KL is non-zero and can be arbitrarily large, possibly diverging (see for instance Refs. 13, 125–127 for a recent use of KL for many-body quantum problems).

Therefore, we work with this tool to quantitatively estimate the degree of similarity between the XX and Heisenberg cases, concerning their extreme polarization distributions $\mathcal{P}(\ln \delta_{\min})$. Since this object is not strictly speaking a distance measure (not $p \leftrightarrow q$ symmetric) we show the two versions in Fig. 13, where one can easily appreciate the very marked qualitative difference between two regimes. At strong disorder, KL is numerically found to be very small which, as anticipated, signals that MBL and AL yields very similar extreme polarization properties. In contrast, when disorder is reduced we nicely observe a finite-size crossing around $W \sim 4 - 7$ (gray shaded area in Fig. 13) towards a regime where KL is seemingly diverging with L, thus signaling that AL is asymptotically destabilized by the interactions.

It is tempting to relate this sharp qualitative change in $KL_{(Heisenberg|XX)}$ to the MBL-ergodic transition in the Heisenberg model, which has already been extensively discussed in the literature, but never from this perspective. Indeed it is important to recall that here we are specifically targeting the extreme polarization distributions, and more particularly its comparison with the well-known many-body Anderson localized case realized by the random-field XX chain model. As a matter of fact, such a comparison provides us a new original way to address the relevance of interactions, and the conclusion that we can draw here is the following. Above, say $W \gtrsim 7$, the extreme statistics of the local spin densities for both Heisenberg and XX are getting extremely close to each other, almost indistinguishable, and this seems to become increasingly true as the system size grows, in agreement with the decrease of Δ_{γ} . Our data then strongly suggest that there is an extreme-statistics transition in the regime $W \sim 4-7$. Whether or not this coincides with the MBL transition remains an open question.

V. CONCLUSIONS

In this work, we have revisited many-particle Anderson and many-body localization physics in one dimension using the new toolbox offered by the extreme value the-



FIG. 13. Kullback-Leibler divergences Eq. (4.14) computed for the distributions of $\ln \delta_{\min}$ for the Heisenberg vs. Anderson localized XX chain models. Upon increasing the system length, the distributions become either more and more similar (typically above $W \sim 6 - 7$), or conversely they increase their differences (below $W \sim 4$). The two panels show the two (unsymmetrical) versions of KL, both having quantitatively similar behaviors. The grey shaded area corresponds to the extreme-statistics transition regime $W \in [4; 7]$.

ory applied to this specific problem. By focusing on the extreme polarizations of two spin chain models in a random magnetic field, the many-body-induced spin freezing mechanism (driving a chain breaking at the thermodynamic limit) has been numerically explored, and compared to an analytically solvable toy model.

In a first part, we have considered the non-interacting limit provided by the XX chain. Using free-fermion exact diagonalization at infinite temperature, the statistics of the local magnetizations, and in particular of their extreme values have been studied in great detail. The emergence of a (disorder-dependent) power-law tail in the distribution of local magnetizations has allowed us to further elaborate on (i) the finite-size scaling of the spin freezing process, which is necessarily accompanied with (ii) a weak link formation leading to chain breaks in the thermodynamic limit. The associated disorderdependent exponents: spin freezing γ , weak-link θ , and the power-law tail of the distribution α , are all simply related, and controlled by the average localization length ξ . Another important result of this non-interacting manybody Anderson limit concerns the distributions of extreme polarizations. Indeed, we found that a single universal distribution is able to describe the entire localized regime, characterized by the Fréchet class of generalized extreme value statistics.

Our exact numerics for the multiparticle (half-filled) non-interacting case shows a surprisingly good agreement with the analytically solvable toy model. Firstly, at strong disorder, the power-law decay (with the system size L) of the minimal deviations from perfect polarization is perfectly captured by the analysis of the longest sequence of neighboring occupied (or empty) orbitals in real space $(\ell_{\max} \sim \ln L)$. Nevertheless, this extreme value argument does not exactly describe the entire Anderson localized regime. Indeed, at weak disorder, typically when the localization length $\xi > 1$, a new length scale which controls the freezing emerges, namely ℓ_{cluster} which is the average length of the cluster hosting the most polarized site. Interestingly, an excellent collapse of the minimal deviations data is obtained (without any adjusted parameter) when plotted against $\overline{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}/\xi$. Finally, the same toy model also provides quantitative results to explain several features in the probability distribution functions.

Lastly, we have explored finite interaction physics and

19

the many-body localization problem from the perspective of extreme value theory. First, based on an interacting toy model, we have conjectured that the non-interacting freezing and chain breaking process should survive interactions in the strong disorder limit. Using state-ofthe-art shift-invert diagonalization, we have successfully tested this conjecture (for the available system sizes) by comparing XX and Heisenberg chain data for both the typical extreme deviations and their distributions. More precisely, we then juxtaposed these distributions, and used the Kullbach-Leibler divergence for a quantitative comparison of interacting and non-interacting cases. This allowed us to reveal an extreme-statistics transition in a critical disorder regime $W \sim 4-7$. This could coincide with the MBL transition, but we leave it as an open question for further work.

Our study opens up several other directions. The most obvious and direct one concerns the concrete exploitation of the spin-freezing phenomenon, which paves the way for the controlled elimination of degrees of freedom, such as in RG-type approaches at strong disorder [57, 128, 129]. For this purpose, it would be interesting to further study not only the most polarized site, but also the density and distance between chain breaks. Here, we have focused on one of the simplest local quantities (the on-site magnetization), which already provides a very rich picture. However, one could think of more sophisticated observables, such as entanglement estimates, more complicated off-diagonal correlators, or more non-local objects such as long-distance correlations. In any case, we strongly believe that the use of extreme statistics theory provides a valuable tool to further investigate the fascinating world of quantum disordered systems.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It is a great pleasure to thank Nicolas Macé and Gabriel Lemarié for a fruitful initial collaboration on a related work. We also thank Mari Carmen Bañuls and Loïc Herviou for interesting discussions. This work has been supported by the EUR grant NanoX No. ANR-17-EURE-0009 in the framework of the "Programme des Investissements d'Avenir". We acknowledge the use of HPC resources from CALMIP (grants 2022-P0677).

- N. Mott and W. Twose, The theory of impurity conduction, Advances in Physics 10, 107 (1961).
- [2] P. W. Anderson, Absence of diffusion in certain random lattices, Phys. Rev. 109, 1492 (1958).
- [3] A. Lagendijk, B. v. Tiggelen, and D. S. Wiersma, Fifty years of Anderson localization, Physics Today 62, 24 (2009).
- [4] L. Fleishman and P. W. Anderson, Interactions and the Anderson transition, Phys. Rev. B 21, 2366 (1980).
- [5] T. Giamarchi and H. J. Schulz, Anderson localization and interactions in one-dimensional metals, Phys. Rev. B 37, 325 (1988).
- [6] B. L. Altshuler, Y. Gefen, A. Kamenev, and L. S. Levitov, Quasiparticle Lifetime in a Finite System: A Nonperturbative Approach, Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 2803 (1997).
- [7] P. Jacquod and D. L. Shepelyansky, Emergence of Quantum Chaos in Finite Interacting Fermi Systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 79, 1837 (1997).

- [8] I. V. Gornyi, A. D. Mirlin, and D. G. Polyakov, Interacting Electrons in Disordered Wires: Anderson Localization and Low-T Transport, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 206603 (2005).
- [9] D. M. Basko, I. L. Aleiner, and B. L. Altshuler, Metalinsulator transition in a weakly interacting many-electron system with localized single-particle states, Annals of Physics **321**, 1126 (2006).
- [10] M. Žnidarič, T. Prosen, and P. Prelovšek, Many-body localization in the Heisenberg XXZ magnet in a random field, Phys. Rev. B 77, 064426 (2008).
- [11] A. Pal and D. A. Huse, Many-body localization phase transition, Phys. Rev. B 82, 174411 (2010).
- [12] J. H. Bardarson, F. Pollmann, and J. E. Moore, Unbounded Growth of Entanglement in Models of Many-Body Localization, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 017202 (2012).
- [13] D. J. Luitz, N. Laflorencie, and F. Alet, Many-body localization edge in the random-field Heisenberg chain, Phys. Rev. B 91, 081103(R) (2015).
- [14] M. Schreiber, S. S. Hodgman, P. Bordia, H. P. Lüschen, M. H. Fischer, R. Vosk, E. Altman, U. Schneider, and I. Bloch, Observation of many-body localization of interacting fermions in a quasirandom optical lattice, Science 349, 842 (2015).
- [15] J. Z. Imbrie, On Many-Body Localization for Quantum Spin Chains, J Stat Phys 163, 998 (2016).
- [16] J. Smith, A. Lee, P. Richerme, B. Neyenhuis, P. W. Hess, P. Hauke, M. Heyl, D. A. Huse, and C. Monroe, Many-body localization in a quantum simulator with programmable random disorder, Nature Physics 12, 907 (2016).
- [17] J.-Y. Choi, S. Hild, J. Zeiher, P. Schauss, A. Rubio-Abadal, T. Yefsah, V. Khemani, D. A. Huse, I. Bloch, and C. Gross, Exploring the many-body localization transition in two dimensions, Science **352**, 1547 (2016).
- [18] P. Roushan *et al.*, Spectroscopic signatures of localization with interacting photons in superconducting qubits, Science **358**, 1175 (2017).
- [19] F. Alet and N. Laflorencie, Many-body localization: An introduction and selected topics, Comptes Rendus Physique 19, 498 (2018).
- [20] D. A. Abanin, E. Altman, I. Bloch, and M. Serbyn, Many-body localization, thermalization, and entanglement, Rev. Mod. Phys. **91**, 021001 (2019).
- [21] E. V. H. Doggen, F. Schindler, K. S. Tikhonov, A. D. Mirlin, T. Neupert, D. G. Polyakov, and I. V. Gornyi, Many-body localization and delocalization in large quantum chains, Phys. Rev. B 98, 174202 (2018).
- [22] T. Chanda, P. Sierant, and J. Zakrzewski, Time dynamics with matrix product states: Many-body localization transition of large systems revisited, Phys. Rev. B 101, 035148 (2020).
- [23] P. Sierant, D. Delande, and J. Zakrzewski, Thouless Time Analysis of Anderson and Many-Body Localization Transitions, Phys. Rev. Lett. **124**, 186601 (2020).
- [24] D. A. Abanin, J. H. Bardarson, G. De Tomasi, S. Gopalakrishnan, V. Khemani, S. A. Parameswaran, F. Pollmann, A. C. Potter, M. Serbyn, and R. Vasseur, Distinguishing localization from chaos: Challenges in finite-size systems, Annals of Physics 427, 168415 (2021).
- [25] E. J. Gumbel, Statistics of Extremes, in *Statistics of Extremes* (Columbia University Press, 1958).
- [26] M. R. Leadbetter, G. Lindgren, and H. Rootzén, Extremes and Related Properties of Random Sequences and

Processes, Springer Series in Statistics (Springer, New York, NY, 1983).

- [27] S. Coles, An Introduction to Statistical Modeling of Extreme Values, Springer Series in Statistics (Springer, London, 2001).
- [28] L. De Haan and A. Ferreira, *Extreme Value Theory*, edited by T. V. Mikosch, S. M. Robinson, and S. I. Resnick, Springer Series in Operations Research and Financial Engineering (Springer, New York, NY, 2006).
- [29] S. N. Majumdar, A. Pal, and G. Schehr, Extreme value statistics of correlated random variables: A pedagogical review, Physics Reports 840, 1 (2020).
- [30] T. M. L. Wigley, Climatology: Impact of extreme events, Nature 316, 106 (1985), number: 6024 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- [31] T. M. L. Wigley, The effect of changing climate on the frequency of absolute extreme events, Climatic Change 97, 67 (2009).
- [32] D. Cooley, Extreme value analysis and the study of climate change, Climatic Change 97, 77 (2009).
- [33] P. Naveau, M. Nogaj, C. Ammann, P. Yiou, D. Cooley, and V. Jomelli, Statistical methods for the analysis of climate extremes, Comptes Rendus Geoscience 337, 1013 (2005).
- [34] M. K. Tippett, C. Lepore, and J. E. Cohen, More tornadoes in the most extreme u.s. tornado outbreaks, Science 354, 1419 (2016).
- [35] H. Tabari, Extreme value analysis dilemma for climate change impact assessment on global flood and extreme precipitation, Journal of Hydrology 593, 125932 (2021).
- [36] T. Shibata, Application of extreme value statistics to corrosion, Journal of Research of the National Institute of Standards and Technology; (United States) 99 (1994).
- [37] L. Makkonen, Problems in the extreme value analysis, Structural Safety 30, 405 (2008).
- [38] D. Gembris, J. G. Taylor, and D. Suter, Trends and random fluctuations in athletics, Nature 417, 506 (2002).
- [39] D. Gembris, J. G. Taylor, and D. Suter, Evolution of Athletic Records: Statistical Effects versus Real Improvements, Journal of Applied Statistics 34, 529 (2007).
- [40] J. H. J. Einmahl and S. G. W. R. Smeets, Ultimate 100m world records through extreme-value theory, Statistica Neerlandica 65, 32 (2011).
- [41] H. Spearing, J. Tawn, D. Irons, T. Paulden, and G. Bennett, Ranking, and Other Properties, of Elite Swimmers Using Extreme Value Theory, Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series A: Statistics in Society 184, 368 (2021).
- [42] S. Y. Novak, Extreme Value Methods with Applications to Finance (CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2012).
- [43] K. Gkillas and P. Katsiampa, An application of extreme value theory to cryptocurrencies, Economics Letters 164, 109 (2018).
- [44] J.-Y. Fortin and M. Clusel, Applications of extreme value statistics in physics, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 48, 183001 (2015).
- [45] S. T. Bramwell, P. C. W. Holdsworth, and J.-F. Pinton, Universality of rare fluctuations in turbulence and critical phenomena, Nature 396, 552 (1998).
- [46] G. Biroli, J.-P. Bouchaud, and M. Potters, Extreme value problems in random matrix theory and other disordered systems, J. Stat. Mech. 2007, P07019 (2007).
- [47] C. A. Tracy and H. Widom, On orthogonal and symplectic matrix ensembles, Commun.Math. Phys. 177, 727

(1996).

- [48] Y. V. Fyodorov and J. P. Keating, Freezing transitions and extreme values: random matrix theory, and disordered landscapes, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences **372**, 20120503 (2014).
- [49] S. N. Majumdar and A. Comtet, Exact Maximal Height Distribution of Fluctuating Interfaces, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 225501 (2004), publisher: American Physical Society.
- [50] V. Dotsenko, Bethe ansatz derivation of the Tracy-Widom distribution for one-dimensional directed polymers, EPL 90, 20003 (2010).
- [51] P. Calabrese, P. L. Doussal, and A. Rosso, Free-energy distribution of the directed polymer at high temperature, EPL 90, 20002 (2010).
- [52] J.-P. Bouchaud and M. Mézard, Universality classes for extreme-value statistics, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General **30**, 7997 (1997).
- [53] B. Derrida, Random-energy model: An exactly solvable model of disordered systems, Physical Review B 24, 2613 (1981).
- [54] B. Derrida, A generalization of the Random Energy Model which includes correlations between energies, J. Phyique Lett. 46, 401 (1985), publisher: Les Editions de Physique.
- [55] B. Derrida and E. Gardner, Solution of the generalised random energy model, Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics 19, 2253 (1986).
- [56] M. Castellana, Extreme-value distributions and the freezing transition of structural glasses, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112, 215701 (2014).
- [57] D. S. Fisher, Critical behavior of random transverse-field Ising spin chains, Phys. Rev. B 51, 6411 (1995).
- [58] D. S. Fisher and A. P. Young, Distributions of gaps and end-to-end correlations in random transverse-field ising spin chains, Phys. Rev. B 58, 9131 (1998).
- [59] R. Juhász, Y.-C. Lin, and F. Iglói, Strong griffiths singularities in random systems and their relation to extreme value statistics, Phys. Rev. B 73, 224206 (2006).
- [60] I. A. Kovács, T. Pető, and F. Iglói, Extreme statistics of the excitations in the random transverse ising chain, Phys. Rev. Res. 3, 033140 (2021).
- [61] W.-H. Kao and N. B. Perkins, Spin- and flux-gap renormalization in the random kitaev spin ladder, Phys. Rev. B 106, L100402 (2022).
- [62] P. R. N. Falcão and M. L. Lyra, Wave-function extreme value statistics in Anderson localization, Phys. Rev. B 106, 184207 (2022).
- [63] W. Buijsman, T. L. M. Lezama, T. Leiser, and L. F. Santos, Ground-state energy distribution of disordered many-body quantum systems, Phys. Rev. E 106, 054144 (2022).
- [64] W. Buijsman, V. Gritsev, and V. Cheianov, Gumbel statistics for entanglement spectra of many-body localized eigenstates, Phys. Rev. B 100, 205110 (2019).
- [65] A. Samanta, K. Damle, and R. Sensarma, Tracking the many-body localized to ergodic transition via extremal statistics of entanglement eigenvalues, Phys. Rev. B 102, 104201 (2020).
- [66] M. Albert and C. A. Müller, Full distribution of the superfluid fraction and extreme value statistics in a onedimensional disordered Bose gas, Phys. Rev. A 101, 023605 (2020).

- [67] N. Pancotti, M. Knap, D. A. Huse, J. I. Cirac, and M. C. Bañuls, Almost conserved operators in nearly many-body localized systems, Phys. Rev. B 97, 094206 (2018).
- [68] See Supplemental Material at [URL will be inserted by the publisher], for more details on technical aspects of the calculations: the fermionic description (S1), the different definitions of the non-interacting localization lengths (S2), the extreme value theory (S3), and the toy model (S4) including Refs. [28, 29, 90, 98–102, 130–144].
- [69] B. Bauer and C. Nayak, Area laws in a many-body localized state and its implications for topological order, J. Stat. Mech. 2013, P09005 (2013).
- [70] D. J. Luitz, Long tail distributions near the many-body localization transition, Phys. Rev. B 93, 134201 (2016).
- [71] X. Yu, D. J. Luitz, and B. K. Clark, Bimodal entanglement entropy distribution in the many-body localization transition, Phys. Rev. B 94, 184202 (2016).
- [72] V. Khemani, S. P. Lim, D. N. Sheng, and D. A. Huse, Critical properties of the many-body localization transition, Phys. Rev. X 7, 021013 (2017).
- [73] L. Colmenarez, P. A. McClarty, M. Haque, and D. J. Luitz, Statistics of correlation functions in the random Heisenberg chain, SciPost Phys. 7, 064 (2019).
- [74] N. Laflorencie, G. Lemarié, and N. Macé, Chain breaking and Kosterlitz-Thouless scaling at the many-body localization transition in the random-field Heisenberg spin chain, Phys. Rev. Res. 2, 042033(R) (2020).
- [75] M. Hopjan, G. Orso, and F. Heidrich-Meisner, Detecting delocalization-localization transitions from full density distributions, Phys. Rev. B 104, 235112 (2021).
- [76] F. Tedoldi, R. Santachiara, and M. Horvatić, ⁸⁹Y NMR Imaging of the Staggered Magnetization in the Doped Haldane Chain Y₂BaNi_{1-x}Mg_xO₅, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83, 412 (1999).
- [77] K. Kodama, M. Takigawa, M. Horvatić, C. Berthier, H. Kageyama, Y. Ueda, S. Miyahara, F. Becca, and F. Mila, Magnetic Superstructure in the Two-Dimensional Quantum Antiferromagnet SrCu₂(BO₃)₂, Science 298, 395 (2002).
- [78] S. Krämer, N. Laflorencie, R. Stern, M. Horvatić, C. Berthier, H. Nakamura, T. Kimura, and F. Mila, Spatially resolved magnetization in the Bose-Einstein condensed state of BaCuSi₂O₆: Evidence for imperfect frustration, Phys. Rev. B 87, 180405(R) (2013).
- [79] R. Zhou *et al.*, Quasiparticle Scattering off Defects and Possible Bound States in Charge-Ordered $YBa_2Cu_3O_y$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**, 017001 (2017).
- [80] V. Khemani, F. Pollmann, and S. L. Sondhi, Obtaining highly excited eigenstates of many-body localized hamiltonians by the density matrix renormalization group approach, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 247204 (2016).
- [81] S. P. Lim and D. N. Sheng, Many-body localization and transition by density matrix renormalization group and exact diagonalization studies, Phys. Rev. B 94, 045111 (2016).
- [82] M. Dupont and N. Laflorencie, Many-body localization as a large family of localized ground states, Phys. Rev. B 99, 020202(R) (2019).
- [83] M. Hopjan and F. Heidrich-Meisner, Many-body localization from a one-particle perspective in the disordered one-dimensional Bose-Hubbard model, Phys. Rev. A 101, 063617 (2020).
- [84] M. Dupont, N. Macé, and N. Laflorencie, From eigenstate to Hamiltonian: Prospects for ergodicity and local-

ization, Phys. Rev. B 100, 134201 (2019).

- [85] A site occupied by an orbital means that the localization center i_0^m is precisely located at this site.
- [86] B. Gnedenko, Sur la distribution limite du terme maximum d'une serie aleatoire, Annals of Mathematics 44, 423 (1943).
- [87] C. L. Kane and M. P. A. Fisher, Transport in a onechannel luttinger liquid, Phys. Rev. Lett. 68, 1220 (1992).
- [88] S. Eggert and I. Affleck, Magnetic impurities in halfinteger-spin heisenberg antiferromagnetic chains, Phys. Rev. B 46, 10866 (1992).
- [89] G. Lemarié, I. Maccari, and C. Castellani, Kane-fisher weak link physics in the clean scratched xy model, Phys. Rev. B 99, 054519 (2019).
- [90] N. Laflorencie, Entanglement entropy and localization in disordered quantum chains, in *Entanglement in Spin Chains: From Theory to Quantum Technology Applications*, edited by A. Bayat, S. Bose, and H. Johannesson (Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2022) pp. 61– 87.
- [91] We do not show here the exponent $\theta_{\text{avg}}(W)$ corresponding to the decay of the *average* of these spin-spin correlations. Indeed, as we discuss in [68] Sec. S1, due to rare resonances across the most polarized site contributing $|C_{\mathcal{LR}}^{zz}| \approx 0.25$, there is a slow decay of the average correlations with L.
- [92] M. Fréchet, Sur la loi de probabilité de l'écart maximum, in Annales de la societe Polonaise de Mathematique, Vol. 6 (1927) pp. 93–116.
- [93] R. A. Fisher and L. H. C. Tippett, Limiting forms of the frequency distribution of the largest or smallest member of a sample, Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 24, 180 (1928).
- [94] R. von Mises, La distribution de la plus grande de n valeurs, Rev. Math. Union Interbalcanique 1, 141 (1936).
- [95] M. Falk and F. Marohn, Von Mises Conditions Revisited, The Annals of Probability 21, 1310 (1993), publisher: Institute of Mathematical Statistics.
- [96] An alternative derivation of this result is given in [68] Sec. S3, using the fact that the distribution for m_i is upper-bounded.
- [97] Agreements and small deviations to Fréchet have been thoroughly discussed in Ref. 60.
- [98] B. Kramer and A. MacKinnon, Localization: theory and experiment, Reports on Progress in Physics 56, 1469 (1993).
- [99] A. Crisanti, G. Paladin, and A. Vulpiani, *Products of Random Matrices*, edited by M. Cardona, P. Fulde, K. Von Klitzing, H.-J. Queisser, and H. K. V. Lotsch, Springer Series in Solid-State Sciences, Vol. 104 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1993).
- [100] A. Comtet, C. Texier, and Y. Tourigny, Lyapunov exponents, one-dimensional anderson localization and products of random matrices, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 46, 254003 (2013).
- [101] M. Kappus and F. Wegner, Anomaly in the band centre of the one-dimensional Anderson model, Z. Physik B -Condensed Matter 45, 15 (1981).
- [102] A. C. Potter, R. Vasseur, and S. A. Parameswaran, Universal properties of many-body delocalization transitions, Phys. Rev. X 5, 031033 (2015).
- [103] R. K. Panda, A. Scardicchio, M. Schulz, S. R. Taylor, and M. Žnidarič, Can we study the many-body localisa-

tion transition?, Europhysics Letters **128**, 67003 (2020).

- [104] A. Morningstar, L. Colmenarez, V. Khemani, D. J. Luitz, and D. A. Huse, Avalanches and many-body resonances in many-body localized systems, Phys. Rev. B 105, 174205 (2022).
- [105] P. Sierant and J. Zakrzewski, Challenges to observation of many-body localization, Phys. Rev. B 105, 224203 (2022).
- [106] J. Gray, S. Bose, and A. Bayat, Many-body localization transition: Schmidt gap, entanglement length, and scaling, Phys. Rev. B 97, 201105(R) (2018).
- [107] D. Sels, Bath-induced delocalization in interacting disordered spin chains, Phys. Rev. B 106, L020202 (2022).
- [108] S. Kullback and R. A. Leibler, On information and sufficiency, The annals of mathematical statistics 22, 79 (1951).
- [109] P. Prelovšek, O. S. Barišić, and M. Mierzejewski, Reduced-basis approach to many-body localization, Phys. Rev. B 97, 035104 (2018).
- [110] S. J. Thomson and M. Schiró, Time evolution of manybody localized systems with the flow equation approach, Phys. Rev. B 97, 060201(R) (2018).
- [111] G. De Tomasi, F. Pollmann, and M. Heyl, Efficiently solving the dynamics of many-body localized systems at strong disorder, Phys. Rev. B 99, 241114(R) (2019).
- [112] M. Serbyn, Z. Papić, and D. A. Abanin, Local conservation laws and the structure of the many-body localized states, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 127201 (2013).
- [113] D. A. Huse, R. Nandkishore, and V. Oganesyan, Phenomenology of fully many-body-localized systems, Phys. Rev. B 90, 174202 (2014).
- [114] V. Ros, M. Müller, and A. Scardicchio, Integrals of motion in the many-body localized phase, Nuclear Physics B 891, 420 (2015).
- [115] C. Monthus, Many-body localization: construction of the emergent local conserved operators via block realspace renormalization, J. Stat. Mech. **2016**, 033101 (2016).
- [116] L. Rademaker, M. Ortuñ o, and A. M. Somoza, Manybody localization from the perspective of integrals of motion, Annalen der Physik 529, 1600322 (2017).
- [117] S.-H. Lin, B. Sbierski, F. Dorfner, C. Karrasch, and F. Heidrich-Meisner, Many-body localization of spinless fermions with attractive interactions in one dimension, SciPost Phys. 4, 002 (2018).
- [118] Here we used the strong disorder expression for ξ which yields $W \sim \exp(1/\xi)$.
- [119] F. Pietracaprina, N. Macé, D. J. Luitz, and F. Alet, Shift-invert diagonalization of large many-body localizing spin chains, SciPost Physics 5, 045 (2018).
- [120] A. Goremykina, R. Vasseur, and M. Serbyn, Analytically solvable renormalization group for the many-body localization transition, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, 040601 (2019).
- [121] P. T. Dumitrescu, A. Goremykina, S. A. Parameswaran, M. Serbyn, and R. Vasseur, Kosterlitz-Thouless scaling at many-body localization phase transitions, Phys. Rev. B 99, 094205 (2019).
- [122] A. Morningstar and D. A. Huse, Renormalization-group study of the many-body localization transition in one dimension, Phys. Rev. B 99, 224205 (2019).
- [123] J. Šuntajs, J. Bonča, T. c. v. Prosen, and L. Vidmar, Ergodicity breaking transition in finite disordered spin chains, Phys. Rev. B 102, 064207 (2020).

- [124] I. García-Mata, J. Martin, O. Giraud, B. Georgeot, R. Dubertrand, and G. Lemarié, Critical properties of the anderson transition on random graphs: Two-parameter scaling theory, Kosterlitz-Thouless type flow, and manybody localization, Phys. Rev. B 106, 214202 (2022).
- [125] D. J. Luitz, N. Laflorencie, and F. Alet, Participation spectroscopy and entanglement hamiltonian of quantum spin models, J. Stat. Mech. 2014, P08007 (2014).
- [126] I. M. Khaymovich, V. E. Kravtsov, B. L. Altshuler, and L. B. Ioffe, Fragile extended phases in the log-normal rosenzweig-porter model, Phys. Rev. Res. 2, 043346 (2020).
- [127] M. S. Bahovadinov, D. V. Kurlov, S. I. Matveenko, B. L. Altshuler, and G. V. Shlyapnikov, Many-body localization transition in a frustrated xy chain, Phys. Rev. B 106, 075107 (2022).
- [128] D. S. Fisher, Random antiferromagnetic quantum spin chains, Phys. Rev. B 50, 3799 (1994).
- [129] F. Igloi and C. Monthus, Strong disorder RG approach of random systems, Phys. Rep. 412, 277 (2005).
- [130] P. Jordan and E. Wigner, Über das Paulische äquivalenzverbot, Z. Physik 47, 631 (1928).
- [131] C. A. Müller and D. Delande, Disorder and interference: localization phenomena (2016), arXiv:1005.0915 [condmat.dis-nn].
- [132] J. T. Edwards and D. J. Thouless, Numerical studies of localization in disordered systems, J. Phys. C: Solid State Phys. 5, 807 (1972).
- [133] S. Johri and R. N. Bhatt, Singular Behavior of Eigenstates in Anderson's Model of Localization, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 076402 (2012), publisher: American Physical Society.
- [134] K. Slevin, Y. Asada, and L. I. Deych, Fluctuations of the Lyapunov exponent in two-dimensional disordered systems, Phys. Rev. B 70, 054201 (2004), publisher: American Physical Society.
- [135] J.-M. Luck, Systemes désordonnés unidimensionnels (Commissariat à l'énergie atomique, 1992).
- [136] C. W. J. Beenakker, Random-matrix theory of quantum transport, Rev. Mod. Phys. 69, 731 (1997).
- [137] V. I. Oseledets, A multiplicative ergodic theorem. ljapunov characteristic numbers for dynamical systems., Trans. Mosc. Math. Soc. 19, 197 (1968).
- [138] H. Furstenberg, Noncommuting random products, Trans. Am. Math. Soc 108, 377 (1963).
- [139] R. E. Borland and J. A. Pople, The nature of the electronic states in disordered one-dimensional systems, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences 274, 529 (1963).
- [140] H. Matsuda and K. Ishii, Localization of Normal Modes and Energy Transport in the Disordered Harmonic Chain*), Progress of Theoretical Physics Supplement 45, 56 (1970).
- [141] R. Carmona, Exponential localization in one dimensional disordered systems, Duke Mathematical Journal 49, 191 (1982).
- [142] L. Hernández-Mulà and A. M. Läuchli, A divideand-conquer algorithm for disordered and interacting few-particle systems in one dimension (2022), arXiv:2211.13089 [cond-mat.dis-nn].
- [143] D. J. Thouless, A relation between the density of states and range of localization for one dimensional random systems, Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics 5, 77

(1972).

- [144] G. Czycholl, B. Kramer, and A. MacKinnon, Conductivity and localization of electron states in one dimensional disordered systems: Further numerical results, Z. Physik B - Condensed Matter 43, 5 (1981).
- [145] For a discussion of the differences and relations between the two definitions, see Appendix A in Slevin *et al.* [134]; a relation to the transport properties is discussed e.g. in Ref. 136.

Supplemental material

Here, we provide some details on more technical aspects of the calculations: the fermionic description in Sec. S1, the different definitions of the non-interacting localization lengths in Sec. S2, the extreme value theory in Sec. S3, and the toy model in Sec. S4.

S1. FERMIONIC DESCRIPTION OF THE SPIN CHAIN MODEL

A. Jordan-Wigner transformation and models

The Jordan-Wigner transformation [130] maps spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ operators to Dirac fermions

$$n_i = \frac{1}{2} + S_i^z \tag{S1}$$

$$c_i = \exp\left|i\pi \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} n_j\right| S_i^- \tag{S2}$$

$$c_i^{\dagger} = S_i^+ \exp\left[-i\pi \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} n_j\right].$$
(S3)

Therefore the spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ XXZ model in a random-field is equivalent to a chain of interacting spinless fermions with random on-sites energies:

$$\mathcal{H}_{XXZ} = \sum_{i} \left[J(S_{i}^{x} S_{i+1}^{x} + S_{i}^{y} S_{i+1}^{y} + \Delta S_{i}^{z} S_{i+1}^{z}) - h_{i} S_{i}^{z} \right]$$

$$= \sum_{i} \left[\frac{J}{2} \left(c_{i}^{\dagger} c_{i+1} + c_{i+1}^{\dagger} c_{i} + 2\Delta n_{i} n_{i+1} \right) - h_{i} n_{i} \right]$$

$$+ \mathcal{H}_{B} + C.$$
(S4)

C is an extensive (but irrelevant) constant, and the term \mathcal{H}_B is a boundary contribution coming from the Jordan-Wigner string. It only plays a role for periodic boundary conditions (PBC) and depends on N_f , the number of fermions in the system, such that

$$\mathcal{H}_B = \begin{cases} -\frac{J}{2}e^{-i\pi N_f} (c_1^{\dagger}c_L + c_L^{\dagger}c_1) & \text{PBC} \\ 0 & \text{OBC} \end{cases}$$
(S5)

The Hamiltonians in Eq. (S4) have a U(1) symmetry corresponding to the total magnetization being conserved and the total charge being conserved, respectively; throughout this paper, we consider the spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ chain in the $S_{tot}^z = 0$ sector (half-filling in the fermion language).

B. Exact diagonalization for free fermions

When $\Delta = 0$, the Hamiltonian in Eq. (S4) is a quadratic (free) fermion problem which can be numerically diagonalized for large system sizes. New fermionic operators are built $b_m = \sum_{i=1}^{L} \phi_m(i)c_i$, such that \mathcal{H} is diagonalized:

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{m=1}^{L} \mathcal{E}_m b_m^{\dagger} b_m.$$
(S6)

All single-particle orbitals $\phi_m(i)$ are spatially localized for any finite disorder strength. The XX chain can be studied in the $S_{\text{tot}}^z = 0$ sector (*L* has to be even), which corresponds to $N_f = L/2$ non-interacting fermions. For each disordered sample, the quadratic Hamiltonian is diagonalized, and one fills L/2 orbitals $m_1, m_2 \ldots, m_{L/2}$. For a given set of occupied orbitals, the total energy is given by

$$E = \sum_{j=1}^{L/2} \mathcal{E}_{m_j},\tag{S7}$$

where \mathcal{E}_{m_j} are the single-particle energies. Denoting by E_{max} and E_{min} the minimal and maximal energies of the Hamiltonian in the $S^z = 0$ sector, we can define the energy density above the ground state as

$$\epsilon = (E - E_{\min}) / (E_{\max} - E_{\min}). \tag{S8}$$

C. Correlations

Using Wick's theorem to express the correlations efficiently in terms of fermions, we obtain a simple expression in terms of the single-particle wavefunctions of the occupied orbitals ϕ_{m_i} (for $i \neq l$):

$$C_{i,l}^{zz} = \langle S_i^z S_l^z \rangle - \langle S_i^z \rangle \langle S_l^z \rangle \tag{S9}$$

$$= -\langle c_l^{\dagger} c_l \rangle \langle c_l^{\dagger} c_i \rangle \tag{S10}$$

$$= -\left|\sum_{j=1}^{L/2} \phi_{m_j}^*(i)\phi_{m_j}(l)\right|^2,$$
(S11)

where in the last equation, j labels the occupied orbitals. We see that in the free fermion chain, the (off-diagonal) correlations must always be negative.

In particular, when there is a resonance between the two sites, then $|C_{i,l}^{zz}| \sim 0.25$. This plays a role in the distribution of the weak-link correlations, which exhibits a bimodal structure, with most samples having close to zero correlations, and a few samples having a resonance and $|C_{\mathcal{LR}}^{zz}| \sim 0.25$. Such resonances occur when two conditions are satisfied: (i) the field $h_{\mathcal{L}}$ is one of the closest to the field $h_{\mathcal{R}}$, and (ii) the field h_{i^*} is very different from both the other fields. The probability of this occurrence is suppressed with $1/L^2$. This has little effect on the decay of the typical weak-link correlations with system sizes, but for sufficiently high sampling rates, it does result in a decay of for the *average* weak-link correlations dominated by L^{-2} .

S2. LOCALIZATION LENGTHS

Throughout this work, we have used a disorder-dependent localization length, $\xi(W)$, which we plotted in Fig. 1g (main text). We now discuss how this localization length is defined.

A. Motivation

In the (single-particle) Anderson problem, several related notions characterize the localization of orbitals, as reviewed for instance in Refs. 98 and 131. Perhaps the most intuitive is the inverse participation ratio (IPR) [132], characterizing the number of sites that participate in the wavefunction

$$\mathbf{P}^{-1} = \frac{\sum_{i} |\phi_m(i)|^4}{\sum_{i} |\phi_m(i)|^2}.$$
(S1)

The IPR is numerically easy to compute for a given solution in a given disorder realization; but it characterizes the extent of the wavefunction rather than its exponential decay. For a given wavefunction, the localization length instead captures how fast the tail of the eigenstate is suppressed:

$$|\phi_m(i)|^2 \lesssim \exp\left(-\frac{|i-x_0^m|}{\xi_m}\right),\tag{S2}$$

(where x_0 could be not on a site). In general, this localization length ξ_m depends on the particular disorder realization and the particular orbital $\phi_m(i)$, which might be very asymmetric or have resonances. At the same time, to compute the localization length from the IPR, one has to assume a certain shape for the localized orbitals and invert the equation to extract ξ [90]; this construction is sensitive to resonances and, furthermore, the IPR has non-analyticities at the band edges [133]. Instead, one can use a different proxy to compute numerically the localization length $\xi(E, W)$: the Lyapunov exponent [98–100, 133, 134], which we discuss shortly in the next section.

B. Lyapunov exponent and random matrices

Here we give only a rough discussion of the Lyapunov exponent in 1D disordered systems, as it has been extensively discussed elsewhere: Ref. 131 provides simple exercises, Refs. 100, 135, and 136 give a general discussion, and for a practical approach for finite-size systems one can look at (e.g.) Ref. 134. The essential idea is to use the transfer matrix formulation of the Anderson localization problem in 1D. Indeed, considering a solution ϕ of the single-particle Anderson problem, we can relate its amplitude on each site by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi^{(l+1)} \\ \phi^{(l)} \end{pmatrix} = T_l(\mathcal{E}) \begin{pmatrix} \phi^{(l)} \\ \phi^{(l-1)} \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{j=1}^l T_j(\mathcal{E}) \begin{pmatrix} \phi^{(1)} \\ \phi^{(0)} \end{pmatrix}$$
(S3)

where l and j label the sites, and where the transfer matrix from j to j + 1 for a single-particle energy \mathcal{E} is given by

$$T_j(\mathcal{E}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\mathcal{E}+h_j}{J/2} & -1\\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (S4)

In the remainder of this discussion, we omit the energy \mathcal{E} in the notation of the transfer matrix for simplicity. We immediately get that a solution to the fixed-boundary Schrödinger equation is given through a product of uncorrelated, non-commuting 2×2 random matrices with unit determinant. From Oseledets' and Furstenberg's theorems [98, 99, 137, 138], defining

$$M_l = \prod_{j=1}^l T_j \tag{S5}$$

there exists a limiting matrix

$$\Gamma = \lim_{l \to \infty} \left(M_l^{\dagger} M_l \right)^{\frac{1}{2l}}$$
(S6)

which has real positive eigenvalues $e^{+\lambda}$, $e^{-\lambda}$; $\lambda > 0$ is the (maximum) Lyapunov exponent. An alternative definition [145] is

$$\lambda := \lim_{l \to \infty} \frac{\ln(|M_l|)}{l} \tag{S7}$$

(where $|\cdot|$ denotes the matrix norm), which is more directly related to the self-averaging quantity

$$\lambda(\mathcal{E}) := \lim_{l \to \infty} \frac{\ln |\phi^{(l)}(\mathcal{E})|}{l}.$$
(S8)

The Borland conjecture [98, 139], later made rigorous [140, 141] relates the exponential increase of one of the solution of the Cauchy problem to the exponential localization of the wavefunction; the intuition is essentially that, following the exponentially increasing solution from the left, we must get a matching exponentially decreasing solution from the right. This directly relates $\lambda(\mathcal{E})$ to $1/(2\xi(\mathcal{E}))$ for a given disorder distribution.

C. Results

In practice, there are several ways of numerically evaluating λ in Eq. (S7) (see e.g. [131] for a simple example and [142] for an approach when one has access to extremely large samples). We follow Ref. 134 in systematically constructing a solution at a given disorder strength and (single-particle) energy \mathcal{E} . For each energy, we start with a random initial condition and iterate applying T_j and normalizing until convergence below a threshold (order of 2×10^{-9} for W = 0.2 and up to 10^{-5} for strong disorder, where less stringent convergence is required). We take a statistical average over 100 samples to have an error estimate (for finite size, there is a distribution of the Lyapunov exponent at given \mathcal{E} and W [134, 136]). To produce Fig. S1, we sampled 10^3 energies based on the ED results for a chain of size L = 2048 and 10^3 samples for weak disorder (W < 2), and L = 512 and 10^4 samples for larger disorder. For readability, we plot the results as a function of the normalized single-particle energies $\varepsilon = (\mathcal{E} - \mathcal{E}_{\min})/(\mathcal{E}_{\max} - \mathcal{E}_{\min})$.



FIG. S1. Localization length $\xi(\varepsilon, W)$ from the Lyapunov exponent, where $\varepsilon = (\mathcal{E} - \mathcal{E}_{\min})/(\mathcal{E}_{\max} - \mathcal{E}_{\min})$ is the renormalized single-particle energy.

The 1D Anderson model admits the following weak-disorder expansion for the localization length as a function of the energy, away from the band edges [98, 135, 143] (see [142] for a recent summary and numerical verification of those results):

$$\xi(\mathcal{E}, W) = \frac{3}{W^2} \left(1 - \mathcal{E}^2 \right) \quad (\mathcal{E} < 1), \tag{S9}$$

where we used that the variance of the uniform distribution is $V = W^2/3$ and that the jump amplitude is t = J/2 = 1/2in our case. There is also a correction at the band center [144] due to the Kappus-Wegner anomaly [101]:

$$\xi(\mathcal{E} = 0, W) = \frac{105}{32W^2} \tag{S10}$$

Our numerical results fit very well both results at W = 0.2, as shown in Fig. S1.

Finally, the results shown in Fig. 1g are obtained by a direct averaging of our numerical results, which by construction amounts to averaging $\xi(\mathcal{E}, W)$ over the density of states. We note that the well known behavior at weak disorder $\left(\xi \sim \frac{1}{2\ln(W)}\right)$ and at strong disorder $\left(\xi \sim \frac{1}{2\ln(W)}\right)$ are well-captured by the expression [102] $\xi = \left[\ln\left(1 + \left(\frac{W}{W_0}\right)^2\right)\right]^{-1}$ with $W_0 \in [1.13, 1.22]$ as discussed in Sec. III (main text).

S3. EXTREME VALUE THEORY

In Sec. IID, we have discussed the extreme value theory for the distribution of the minimal deviations. In this section we review some basic results of extreme value theory for applications in the present work. We refer the interested reader to Ref. 29 for a short introduction and to Ref. 28 for a detailed mathematical discussion.

A. Limit extreme value distributions

1. Generalized extreme value distribution

Univariate extreme value theory [28] predicts that the law controlling the maximum of L i.i.d random variables $\{x_i\}_{i=1,...,L}$ is controlled in the limit of $L \to \infty$ by the tail of the parent distribution of these variables. There are three families of limiting distributions which can be gathered in the same generalized extreme value (GEV) distribution (Eq. (2.16) in the main text). The criteria are treated in detail in, for instance, Ref. 28, and useful examples are given also in Ref. 29. Qualitatively, the three cases are

- 1. If the parent distribution has an exponential tail, the distribution of the maxima belongs to the attraction basin of the Gumbel law. This is what we expect for the maximal magnetizations in the ergodic regime.
- 2. If the parent distribution has a power-law dependence with an upper bound for the support (as is the case for the magnetization in the XX chain or in the XXX chain at strong disorder), the Weibull law applies (s < 0). This is what is to be expected for the maximal magnetizations in the localized phases.
- 3. If the parent distribution has a (heavy) power-law tail at large values, then the Fréchet law applies.

Two forms are of particular interest to us. First, the Weibull case corresponds to an upper-bounded parent distribution with a power-law behavior [29] and can be rewritten as:

$$f^{W}_{\beta,\sigma,\mu}(x) = \frac{\beta}{\sigma} \left(\frac{\mu - x}{\sigma}\right)^{\beta - 1} e^{-((\mu - x)/\sigma)^{\beta}}$$
(S1)

Second, the Gumbel distribution can be rewritten as

$$f^{G}_{\sigma,\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{\sigma} \exp\left[-\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma} - e^{-\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma}}\right].$$
(S2)

In particular, in Sec. IID, we discussed the fact that δ_{\min} follows a law related to the Fréchet distribution. An immediate consequence is that $v = -\ln(\delta_{\min})$ follows a generalized Gumbel distribution. Indeed, using $\gamma = (\alpha + 1)^{-1}$ we get

$$\mathcal{P}_L(v) = AL \exp\left(-v/\gamma - AL\gamma e^{-v/\gamma}\right) \tag{S3}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\gamma} \exp\left[-\frac{v - \gamma \ln(AL\gamma)}{\gamma} - \exp\left(-\frac{v - \gamma \ln(AL\gamma)}{\gamma}\right)\right],\tag{S4}$$

and we can identify the Gumbel distribution with scale $\sigma = \gamma$ and location $\mu = \gamma \ln(AL\gamma)$, as stated in Eq. (2.24).

2. Minimal deviations from a Weibull distribution for the maximal magnetization

In the main text we have sketched a short derivation of the law for the minimal deviation, related to the Fréchet law (in the thermodynamic limit for iid variables). An alternative derivation can be done by realizing that the maximal deviation $m_{\text{max}} = \max_i m_i$ must satisfy a (reverse) Weibull distribution with an upper limit at $m_{\text{max}} = 1/2$; we can approximate this constraint on the GEV as

$$1/2 = \mu - \sigma/s, \quad s < 0.$$
 (S5)

Identifying

$$\begin{cases} s = -1/(\alpha + 1) < 0\\ y = -(1 + sx) = \frac{1}{\sigma(\alpha + 1)}(m_{\max} - 1/2) < 0 \end{cases}$$
(S6)

gives the expression of the distribution of the m_{max} as a reverse-Weibull distribution $f_{\alpha+1,\sigma(\alpha+1),1/2}^W(m_{\text{max}})dm_{\text{max}}$. Identifying

$$\begin{cases} \delta_{\min} &= 1/2 - m_{\max} \\ AL &= (\alpha+1)(\sigma(\alpha+1))^{-(\alpha+1)} \end{cases}$$
(S7)

yields

$$\mathcal{P}_L(\delta_{\min})d\delta_{\min} = f^W_{\alpha+1,\lambda,1/2}(m_{\max})dm_{\max}$$
(S8)

$$= AL\delta_{\min}^{\alpha} \exp\left(-\frac{AL}{\alpha+1}\delta_{\min}^{\alpha+1}\right) d\delta_{\min}$$
(S9)



FIG. S2. Decay of the correlations between the deviations, for two disorder strengths. The horizontal dotted line is a guide to estimate the threshold below which the values are within errors. The light blue line sketches the decay that would correspond to the localization length.

recovering the expected result. In the end, the distribution for δ_{\min} is given by the GEV distribution for $m_{\max} = 1/2 - \delta_{\min}$

$$f_{A,L,\gamma}(\delta_{\min})d\delta_{\min} = \frac{1}{\sigma}f_s\left(\frac{m_{\max}-\mu}{\sigma}\right)dm_{\max}$$
(S10)

with parameters

$$\begin{cases} s = -1/(\alpha+1) = -\gamma \\ \sigma = \gamma (AL\gamma)^{-\gamma} \\ \mu = 1/2 - \sigma/\gamma = 1/2 - (AL\gamma)^{-\gamma} \end{cases}$$
(S11)

B. Applicability of EVT

In Sec. IID we have compared our data to the limiting distribution coming from EVT. Here, we show numerical evidence that the correlations between the deviations are indeed weak, decaying exponentially, such that EVT applies to our data. Fig. S2 shows the correlations between the deviations as a function of the distance k, averaged over samples. We note that these correlations decay exponentially. The correlation length is of a similar order of magnitude as the localization length, illustrated by the light blue line in that figure, but it is smaller at weak disorder and seems slightly larger at strong disorder, although it is difficult to evaluate it precisely.

C. Computing A and α from the EV distributions

In Fig. 8 (main text), we have performed fits using the extreme value distribution for $u = \ln(\delta_{\min})$. Further, we have used the values of A and α averaged over the various sizes to collapse the distribution. In Fig. S3 we show the values of A and α for the two most challenging cases, at W = 0.5 and W = 20, where the numerical results do not match perfectly the expected limit distributions. For these two disorders, we show that, although the exponent α has somewhat small fluctuations, the prefactor A has much larger errors. Those result in large corrections in the $\mathcal{P}(\ln \delta)$ distributions; nonetheless, the values of A and α are compatible with the tail of the *full* distribution of the deviations. In Fig. 8, the size of the gray area in the collapses is directly determined from the errors shown in Fig. S3.

S4. TOY MODEL

A. Deviations in the toy model

In Sec. III, we discussed the minimal deviations as obtained in the toy model. In this section, we derive some of the key results. Eq. (3.4) (main text) is easily obtained when one considers a cluster of ℓ empty (respectively



FIG. S3. Left column : determining A and α from the fits to the extreme value distribution. Right column: comparing the average A and α to the ED results for the distribution of the deviations δ .

occupied) neighboring orbitals in a sample of otherwise occupied (respectively empty) sites. Indeed, within the toy model framework, the deviation from perfect occupation at a distance r from the center of a cluster is:

$$\delta_r^{(\ell)} = \begin{cases} e^{-\frac{(k-r)}{\xi}} \cdot \frac{(1+e^{-\frac{2r+\xi}{\xi}})}{1+e^{-\frac{1}{\xi}}} & \text{if } \ell = 2k, \\ e^{-\frac{k+1-r}{\xi}} \cdot \frac{(1+e^{-\frac{2r}{\xi}})}{1+e^{-\frac{1}{\xi}}} & \text{if } \ell = 2k+1 \end{cases}$$
(S1)

Let us show in detail the computation of the deviation $\delta_r^{(2k)}$ for this case, for a distance r from the center measured as in Fig. 9. Introducing $x = e^{-1/\xi}$ to simplify the expressions, we have

$$\delta_r^{(2k)} = n_r^{(2k)} = \frac{1-x}{1+x} \left[\sum_{d=k-r}^{k+r} x^d + 2\sum_{d=k+r+1}^{\infty} x^d \right]$$
(S2)

$$=\frac{1-x}{1+x}\left[x^{k-r}\frac{1-x^{2r+1}}{1-x}+2\frac{x^{k+r+1}}{1-x}\right]$$
(S3)

$$=x^{k-r}\frac{1+x^{2r+1}}{1+x}.$$
(S4)

and the calculation for clusters of size $\ell=2k+1$ yields

$$\delta_r^{(2k+1)} = \frac{1-x}{1+x} \left[\sum_{d=k+1-r}^{k+r} x^d + 2 \sum_{d=k+r+1}^{\infty} x^d \right]$$
(S5)

$$=\frac{1-x}{1+x}\left[\frac{x^{k+1-r}-x^{k+r+1}}{1-x}+2\frac{x^{k+r+1}}{1-x}\right]$$
(S6)

$$=x^{k+1-r}\frac{1+x^{2r}}{1+x}$$
(S7)

which directly gives the results in Eq. (S1). The results are the same for an occupied cluster in a sea of empty sites.

As a result, in the center of the cluster we have

$$\delta_{\min}^{\text{upper}}(\ell) = \begin{cases} \delta_0^{(2k)} = e^{-\frac{k}{\xi}} & \text{if } \ell = 2k\\ \delta_0^{(2k+1)} = \frac{e^{-\frac{(2k+1)}{2\xi}}}{\cosh(\frac{1}{2\xi})} & \text{if } \ell = 2k+1 \end{cases}$$
(S8)

corresponding to Eqs. (3.4) and (3.5) in the main text (note that in the main text, we consider $\ell = 2k - 1$).

The assumption of a cluster of empty (respectively occupied) sites in a sea of sites with the opposite occupation yields an overestimated value for δ_{\min} . If instead we consider the other extreme - a cluster defined by empty sites surrounded by *only* two occupied sites, we obtain

$$\tilde{\delta}_{r}^{(2k)} = \frac{1-x}{1+x} \left[x^{k-r} + x^{k+1+r} \right]$$
(S9)

$$\tilde{\delta}_r^{(2k+1)} = \frac{1-x}{1+x} \left[x^{k+1-r} + x^{k+1+r} \right]$$
(S10)

hence, the minimal deviations are given by

$$\delta_{\min}^{\text{lower}}(\ell) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\delta}_0^{(2k)} &= x^k (1-x), \\ \tilde{\delta}_0^{(2k+1)} &= 2x^{k+1} \frac{1-x}{1+x}, \end{cases}$$
(S11)

and therefore $\delta_{\min}^{\text{lower}}(\ell) = (1 - e^{-\frac{1}{\xi}})\delta_{\min}^{\text{upper}}(\ell)$, corresponding to Eq. (3.6).

B. Distributions in the toy model

1. Recovering power-law tails

With the expressions in Eq. (S1) in hands, the power-law tail of the distribution of $\mathcal{P}(\delta)$ in the toy model is easily recovered. Recall that at half-filling, the probability of having a cluster of length ℓ is essentially $\mathcal{P}(\ell) \propto 2^{-\ell}$ (there are small corrections but they are not relevant for us here). We can roughly estimate the probability of a deviation δ by

$$\mathcal{P}_L(\ln(\delta)) \sim \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\sum_{\{k,r\}'} \mathcal{P}_L(2k) + \sum_{\{k,r\}''} \mathcal{P}_L(2k+1) \right),$$
(S12)

where the prime and second symbols correspond to summing over integers k, r such that

$$\{k, r\}' = \{k, r | r \le k \text{ and } \delta_r^{2k} \sim \delta\}$$
(S13)

$$\{k, r\}'' = \{k, r | r \le k \text{ and } \delta_r^{2k+1} \sim \delta\}$$
(S14)

respectively. Since $\delta_r^{2k} \sim \delta$ can only happen for $k \geq -\xi \ln(\delta)$, one finds that

$$\mathcal{P}_L(\ln(\delta)) \propto 2^{-2k} \sim 2^{2\xi \ln(\delta)} = e^{\frac{\ln(\delta)}{\gamma_{\text{toy}}}}$$
(S15)

in agreement with Eq. (3.3).

2. Location of the peaks and merging

Eqs. (S8) and (S11) give the distance to be expected between peaks in the distribution of $\ln(\delta_{\min})$ in the toy model. In particular, one can directly read off Eqs. (S8) that peaks due to same parity clusters will be spaced by multiples of $1/\xi$. It is also clear that peaks should occur between isolated odd clusters, and even clusters surrounded by other clusters with a similar occupation. The width of the peaks is thus estimated by

$$w(\xi) \approx \ln(2) - \ln(1 - e^{-\frac{2}{\xi}}).$$
 (S16)

With this we can evaluate the order of magnitude of the localization length at which the separated peaks should merge in a single distribution within the toy model: this is when $w \approx 1/\xi$, and gives

$$\xi = \frac{1}{\ln(1+\sqrt{2})} \approx 1.135,$$
(S17)

which corresponds to a disorder $W \approx 1.4$. This is in agreement with the observations in Fig. 10 (main text).



FIG. S4. Collapse based on the cluster length $\frac{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}$ or with $\ln(L)/\ln(2)$. At weak and intermediate disorder, the collapse with $\ln(L)/\xi$ is not good, unlike the one with $\frac{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}/\xi$ shown in Fig. 9 (main text).

C. Collapse with $\ln(L)$

In Sec. III of the main text, we have seen that at weak disorder, the collapse with $\overline{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}$ is surprisingly good, even though this is a limit where the toy model should not apply this well. In Fig. S4, we show that, indeed, the collapse is not as good if we use $\ln(L)/\xi$ instead of $\overline{\ell_{\text{cluster}}}/\xi$, for weak to intermediate disorder strengths.